
City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 3/31/2017 10:21 AM  

 

AGENDA 

CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION 
Thursday, April 6, 2017 – 7:00 PM 

 Chairperson Ed Newman 

 Commissioners Linda Smith 

  Sam Storey 

  TJ Welch 

  Susan Westman 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

2. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda 

B. Public Comments 

Short communications from the public concerning matters not on the Agenda.  
All speakers are requested to print their name on the sign-in sheet located at the podium so that their 
name may be accurately recorded in the Minutes. 

C. Commission Comments 

D. Staff Comments 

3. PRESENTATION 

A. Capitola Branch Library Design - Public Works Director Steve Jesberg 

4. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

A. Planning Commission - Regular Meeting - Feb 2, 2017 7:00 PM 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR 

All matters listed under “Consent Calendar” are considered by the Planning Commission to be routine 
and will be enacted by one motion in the form listed below.  There will be no separate discussion on these 
items prior to the time the Planning Commission votes on the action unless members of the public or the 
Planning Commission request specific items to be discussed for separate review.  Items pulled for 
separate discussion will be considered in the order listed on the Agenda. 

 
A. 224 San Jose Avenue #16-108 APN: 035-184-07 and 035-184-01 

Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit for addition of two-car garage with second story 
living space on an existing single-family historic structure located in the CV (Central Village) 
Zoning District.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, which is 
not appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Dennis Calvert 
Representative: Dennis Norton, filed: 1/17/2017 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – April 6, 2017 2 
 

 
B. 1842 48th Ave #17-008 034-023-32 

Design Permit to remodel an existing single-family residence and construct a 546-square 
foot addition and a new 245 square foot garage, located in the R-1 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Dent Organization, Inc. 
Representative: Robin Alaga, filed: 1/25/17 
 

6. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

Public Hearings are intended to provide an opportunity for public discussion of each item listed as a 
Public Hearing.  The following procedure is as follows:  1) Staff Presentation; 2) Public Discussion; 3) 
Planning Commission Comments; 4) Close public portion of the Hearing; 5) Planning Commission 
Discussion; and 6) Decision. 

 
A. 105 Sacramento Avenue #16-133 036-144-05 

Design Permit to demolish an existing residence and secondary dwelling unit and 
construction of a new two-story residence and attached secondary dwelling unit with 
variance requests for garage setbacks and driveway landscaping, located in the R-1 
(Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, which is 
appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible appeals are exhausted 
through the city. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lani and Tim Holdener 
Representative: Derek Van Alstine, filed: 6/28/16 
 

B. Capitola Mall Redevelopment   
 

C. Zoning Code Update  All Properties within Capitola 
Continuation of Comprehensive Update to the City of Capitola Zoning Code (Municipal 
Code Chapter 17).   
The Zoning Code serves as the Implementation Plan of the City’s Local Coastal Program 
and therefore must be certified by the Coastal Commission.   
Environmental Determination: Addendum to the General Plan Update EIR 
Property: The Zoning Code update affects all properties within the City of Capitola. 
Representative: Katie Cattan, Senior Planner, City of Capitola 
 

7. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

8. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

9. ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA – April 6, 2017 3 
 
APPEALS:  The following decisions of the Planning Commission can be appealed to the City Council 

within the (10) calendar days following the date of the Commission action:  Conditional Use Permit, 

Variance, and Coastal Permit.  The decision of the Planning Commission pertaining to an Architectural 

and Site Review Design Permit can be appealed to the City Council within the (10) working days following 

the date of the Commission action.  If the tenth day falls on a weekend or holiday, the appeal period is 

extended to the next business day. 
 

All appeals must be in writing, setting forth the nature of the action and the basis upon which the action is 

considered to be in error, and addressed to the City Council in care of the City Clerk.  An appeal must be 

accompanied by a five hundred dollar ($500) filing fee, unless the item involves a Coastal Permit that is 

appealable to the Coastal Commission, in which case there is no fee.  If you challenge a decision of the 

Planning Commission in court, you may be limited to raising only those issues you or someone else 

raised at the public hearing described in this agenda, or in written correspondence delivered to the City 

at, or prior to, the public hearing. 
 

Notice regarding Planning Commission meetings:  The Planning Commission meets regularly on the 

1st Thursday of each month at 7 p.m. in the City Hall Council Chambers located at 420 Capitola Avenue, 

Capitola. 
 

Agenda and Agenda Packet Materials:  The Planning Commission Agenda and complete Agenda 

Packet are available on the Internet at the City's website:  www.cityofcapitola.org.  Agendas are also 

available at the Capitola Branch Library, 2005 Wharf Road, Capitola, on the Monday prior to the Thursday 

meeting.  Need more information?  Contact the Community Development Department at (831) 475-7300. 
 

Agenda Materials Distributed after Distribution of the Agenda Packet:  Materials that are a public 

record under Government Code § 54957.5(A) and that relate to an agenda item of a regular meeting of 

the Planning Commission that are distributed to a majority of all the members of the Planning 

Commission more than 72 hours prior to that meeting shall be available for public inspection at City Hall 

located at 420 Capitola Avenue, Capitola, during normal business hours. 
 

Americans with Disabilities Act:  Disability-related aids or services are available to enable persons with 

a disability to participate in this meeting consistent with the Federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 

1990.  Assisted listening devices are available for individuals with hearing impairments at the meeting in 

the City Council Chambers.  Should you require special accommodations to participate in the meeting 

due to a disability, please contact the Community Development Department at least 24 hours in advance 

of the meeting at (831) 475-7300.  In an effort to accommodate individuals with environmental 

sensitivities, attendees are requested to refrain from wearing perfumes and other scented products. 
 

Televised Meetings:  Planning Commission meetings are cablecast "Live" on Charter Communications 

Cable TV Channel 8 and are recorded to be replayed on the following Monday and Friday at 1:00 p.m. on 

Charter Channel 71 and Comcast Channel 25.  Meetings can also be viewed from the City's website:  

www.cityofcapitola.org. 

 

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/
http://www.cityofcapitola.org/


City of Capitola Page 1 Updated 3/29/2017 3:50 PM  

DRAFT FINAL MINUTES 
CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 

THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 2, 2017 
7 P.M. – CAPITOLA CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

 

 
 

1. ROLL CALL AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

Commissioner TJ Welch: Present, Commissioner Linda Smith: Absent, Chairperson Edward 
Newman: Absent, Commissioner Susan Westman: Present, Commissioner Sam Storey: 
Present 

2. NEW BUSINESS 

A. Commission Appointments 

1. Art & Culture Commission 

Motion: Appoint Commissioner Storey to the Art & Cultural Commission 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: TJ Welch, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Welch, Westman, Storey 

ABSENT: Smith, Newman 

 

2. Traffic & Parking Commission 

Motion: Appoint Commissioner Welch to the Traffic & Parking Commission 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Storey, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Westman, Commissioner 

AYES: Welch, Westman, Storey 

ABSENT: Smith, Newman 

 

3. ORAL COMMUNICATIONS 

A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda - None 

B. Public Comments - None 

C. Commission Comments 

Commissioner Welch reported on the last Traffic and Parking Commission meeting regarding the 
proposed Village Area employee parking program and noted that it was passed at the last City 
Council meeting. The program will allow for up to 200 Village employees to park in the lower parking 
lot to help alleviate parking issues in the Village and in the surrounding residential areas. 
 
Commissioner Westman requested a staff update on the Ideal Homes sign and car storage issues at 
the property Bay Avenue, next to the freeway.  
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 4

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 2 
 

Senior Planner Katie Herlihy responded that a Conditional Use Permit extension will be reviewed by 
the City Council in March. 
Senior Planner Herlihy stated she would follow up regarding the Ideal Home sign. 

D. Staff Comments - None 

4. CONSENT CALENDAR 

A. 1240 41st Avenue #16-219 034-101-33 
Design Permit to demolish an existing office building with fire damage and build a new, 
1,800 square foot office building and a Sign Permit for a new wall sign in the CC 
(Community Commercial) zoning district.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Christine McCormack 
Representative: Michael Helm, filed: 12/6/16 
 

Motion: Approve Design Permit and Sign Permit with the following conditions and findings: 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1.  The project approval is for the construction of a new, single-story office building at 1240 

41st Avenue. The project consists of the demolition of an existing 1,580 square foot office 
building which previously suffered fire damage, and the construction of a new, 1,800 
square foot office building in the same location. There is no maximum lot coverage 
within the CC (Community Commercial) zoning district, except that parking and front 
yard open space requirements be met. The project includes a 15-foot front landscape 
area and six on-site parking spaces in compliance with CC zone regulations. The 
proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by 
the Planning Commission on February 2nd, 2017, except as modified through conditions 
imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans.  
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 
Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP). 
 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems, if proposed.  Native and/or drought tolerant species are 

4.A

Packet Pg. 5

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 3 
 

recommended. The applicant shall obtain a Landscape Maintenance Agreement with the 
City prior to building permit issuance.    
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #16-219 
shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, the applicant shall submit a copy of the easement 
agreement between the subject property and property to the north (1260 41st Ave) to the 
Public Works department. 
 

9. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.   
 

10. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

13. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 

 

14. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be 
placed in the road right-of-way. 

 

15. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 

 

16. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches or street edge 
shall be replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the 
Public Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches shall meet current 
Accessibility Standards. 

 

17. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 6

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 4 
 

18. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall 
have an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to 
prevent permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the 
applicant prior to expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 

 

19. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to 
the underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by 
the applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred 
off the site on which the approval was granted. 

 
20. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 

shielded and placed out of public view on non-collection days.  

 
FINDINGS 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of 

the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The proposed enlarged 
office building, with the conditions imposed, secures the purpose of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. The building would comply with 
the 41st Avenue Design Guidelines.  
 

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and 
the Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for a new, enlarged office 
building to replace a fire-damage office building. The new building, with the 
conditions imposed, will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
The building would relate well to the surrounding commercial development along 41st 
Avenue.  

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15302(b) of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15302(b) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the replacement of a commercial 
structure with a new structure of substantially the same size, purpose, and capacity. 
This project involves the replacement of a slightly larger commercial building with the 
same proposed office use in the CC (Community Commercial) Zoning District.  
 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: TJ Welch, Commissioner 

SECONDER: Storey, Commissioner 

AYES: Welch, Westman, Storey 

ABSENT: Smith, Newman 

 

5. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. 115 Saxon Avenue #16-115 036-131-02 

Design Permit to remodel an existing non-conforming residence and addition of 324 square 
feet, located in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.  

4.A

Packet Pg. 7

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 5 
 

This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Brian Wiese & Diane Krigel 
Representative: Derek Van Alstine, filed: 6/2/16  

Senior Planner Herlihy presented the project. 
 

Applicant's Designer Derek Van Alstine responded to Commissioner Storey’s 
question about the project parking garage issue, and requested condition #4 be 
removed. He also discussed the percolation pit requirement in response to 
Commissioner Storey’s question about the neighbor's concern and the possibility of 
moving it. Mr. Van Alstine responded that he didn’t think it would be a problem to 
move it since there is plenty of room on the property. 
 
Commissioner Welch supports removing condition #4 and has no objection to 
allowing the adjustment to the rumpus room. Commissioner Westman concurred. 
 

MOTION: Approve Design Permit 
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval is for the remodel and addition to an existing, two-story home at 

115 Saxon Avenue. The project consists of construction of an interior and exterior 
remodel, as well as an addition of 324 square feet. The 324 square foot addition results 
in a 3% increase in Floor Area Ratio (FAR). The maximum FAR for the 4,000 square 
foot property is 54% (2,160 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 53.9% with a 
total of 2,159 square feet of floor area, compliant with the maximum FAR within the 
zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Commission on February 2nd, 2017, except as modified 
through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans.  
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  

 
4. Prior to issuance of building permit, the applicant must submit revised plans to the 

satisfaction of the Community Development Director showing one, full-sized covered 
parking space designed within the existing family room area. 

 
5. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 

Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP).   
 

6. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 8

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 6 
 

7. The Planning Commission approved of design modifications to the rear roof line of the 
proposed project at the February 2nd, 2017 hearing. Floor area will be removed from the 
rear of the building and added to the “rumpus room”. The design changes must be 
approved by the Community Development Director.   

 
8. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #16-115 

shall be paid in full. 
 

9. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   

 
10. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 

control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 

 
11. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 

management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

12. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 
 

13. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

14. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit an engineered drainage 
plan with specifications and details for the design, size, and location of the percolation 
pit. 

15. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

16. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches or street edge shall be 
replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches shall meet current Accessibility 
Standards. 
 

17. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

 

4.A

Packet Pg. 9

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 7 
 

18. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 
an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

19. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

20. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
shielded and placed out of public view on non-collection days.  

 
 

FINDINGS 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project, with the conditions 
imposed, secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local 
Coastal Plan. The proposed addition area meets all zoning code requirements.   

 
B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for remodel and addition to an 
existing two-story residence. The remodeled home, with the conditions imposed, will 
maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. The proposal will update the 
exterior façade and remove existing, raised deck space. The proposed updated home 
will maintain the character of the depot hill neighborhood.  

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303 of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of one single-family 
residence in a residential zone. This project involves the remodel and addition to an 
existing two-story single-family residence in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning 
District. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the 
proposed project.  
 

RESULT: APPROVED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Sam Storey, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Chairperson 

AYES: Welch, Westman, Storey 

ABSENT: Smith, Newman 

 
 
B. Zoning Code Update  All Properties within Capitola 

Continuation of Comprehensive Update to the City of Capitola Zoning Code (Municipal 
Code Chapter 17).   
The Zoning Code serves as the Implementation Plan of the City’s Local Coastal Program 
and therefore must be certified by the Coastal Commission.   

4.A

Packet Pg. 10

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 8 
 

Environmental Determination: Addendum to the General Plan Update EIR 
Property: The Zoning Code update affects all properties within the City of Capitola. 
Representative: Katie Herlihy, Senior Planner, City of Capitola 
 

Senior Planner Herlihy presented the Zoning Code Update, including the updated 
zoning map, and outlined the nine remaining zoning code issues that must be 
addressed prior to adoption that were outlined in the staff report. 
 
Commissioner Westman would like to make sure that the Visitor Serving Overlay and 
Vacation Rental do not make the village illegible. She requested they be removed 
from the master zoning map and only shown in the separate map inlay at the bottom 
of the page. She noted several other recommendations to the map, including 
cleaning up errors in the Transient Occupancy overlay. 
 
The Vacation Rental Overlay was reviewed by Senior Planner Herlihy, noting that 
there were two new requests to extend the Vacation Rental Overlay to Bay Avenue 
and a request to include 502 Beulah. 
 
Commissioner Welch had no issues with the 502 Beulah request but had concern 
with extending to Bay Avenue due to history of complaints. Commissioner Storey 
agreed with Commissioner Welch not to extend to Bay Avenue. 
 
Commissioner Westman agreed with colleagues in support of 502 Beulah, but is not 
in favor of extending further up Capitola Avenue than when previously discussed. 
 
Commissioner Storey asked for clarification on the open spaces shown on the draft 
map on either sides of the creek that show as creek. Director Grunow responded that 
another similar area is zoned as a city park in the General Plan and it would be 
appropriate to zone it the same way for clarification and worth reviewing. Senior 
Planner Herlihy recommended changing the color of the creek.  
 
Senior Planner Herlihy reviewed the Environmentally Sensitive Areas and pointed 
out that quite a few areas of the map are developed and should be better defined to 
reflect where environmentally sensitive areas are versus those that have been 
developed and do not have vegetation. Director Grunow stated that these existing 
maps data came from the city’s certified Local Coastal Program (LCP) and are not 
accurate on the ground conditions. Director Grunow recommended investing some 
resources to correct these issues. 
 
Commissioners Welch and Westman were supportive of having a more refined and 
accurate map. 
 
Senior Planner Herlihy reviewed the Geologic Hazard Map, which is also taken from 
the City’s Coastal Plan. Director Grunow cautioned that this map may go through 
significant revisions after review by the Coastal Commission. Commissioner Storey 
asked if the lower parking lot was included, or if it is considered to be a geological 
hazard and should be included in the Tidal Zone surge area.  
 
Director Grunow agreed that it is not clear if this map includes the Tidal Zone and 
suggested scrubbing the existing map and setting criteria for the geologic hazards 
that are being mapped. 
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 11

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



CAPITOLA PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES – February 2, 2017 9 
 

Senior Planner Herlihy next demonstrated the draft Coastal Map that staff produced 
utilizing the 1991 certified map from the Coastal Commission, adding the County of 
Santa Cruz layer, and the clarifying the appealable zone. The Coastal Commission 
has advised that it will continue to use their own map but has allowed us to use this 
simplified, easier to read map, with the condition that a disclaimer is provided stating 
that they have not adopted this map. Commissioner Westman would like to see a 
logical map that reflects property lines to clarify the appealable zones. 
 
The Archeological Sensitive Areas map was reviewed by Senior Planner Herlihy, 
prompting Commissioner Storey to ask for a definition of Archeological Sensitive 
Areas. Director Grunow responded that it typically means areas having records or 
past discoveries identified as having high sensitivity archeological resources, briefly 
explaining the process and adding that projects both in and outside of these areas 
are cautiously reviewed on a case by case basis to assess archeological effects, 
which include records of past discovery of archeological resources. Commissioner 
Westman also noted that there is a “secret” map that showed known sites around 
town with archeological findings that could be used to compare to this map. 
 

Motion: Continued to Special Planning Commission Meeting of February 16, 2017, at 6:00 P.M. 

RESULT: CONTINUED [UNANIMOUS] 

MOVER: Sam Storey, Commissioner 

SECONDER: TJ Welch, Chairperson 

AYES: Welch, Westman, Storey 

ABSENT: Smith, Newman 

6. DIRECTOR'S REPORT 

Director Grunow reported that the updated wireless ordinance passed the first reading at last 
week's City Council meeting and it will be on next week’s Council agenda for final adoption, and 
then to the California Coastal Commission for certification. 
  
The appeal for the application of 105 Sacramento was withdrawn and the applicant will redesign 
and submit a new application. 

7. COMMISSION COMMUNICATIONS 

None 

8. ADJOURNMENT 

 
 
_____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Aluffi, Minutes Clerk 
 

4.A

Packet Pg. 12

M
in

u
te

s 
A

cc
ep

ta
n

ce
: 

M
in

u
te

s 
o

f 
F

eb
 2

, 2
01

7 
7:

00
 P

M
  (

A
p

p
ro

va
l o

f 
M

in
u

te
s)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 6, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: 224 San Jose Avenue #16-108 APN: 035-184-07 and 035-184-01 
 

Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit for addition of two-car garage with 
second story living space on an existing single-family historic structure located in 
the CV (Central Village) Zoning District.  
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, 
which is not appealable to the California Coastal Commission. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Dennis Calvert 
Representative: Dennis Norton, filed: 1/17/2017 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The application is for an addition of a two-car garage with living space on the second story 
attached to the existing historic single-family home at 224 San Jose.  The proposed addition 
requires a Conditional Use Permit and Design Permit.    
BACKGROUND 
On October 6, 2016, the Planning Commission denied an application without prejudice for a 
new detached garage with second story living space that required a variance to one onsite 
parking space.   The Planning Commission directed the applicant to revise the application to 
comply with the onsite parking requirement due to the limited parking within the Village. The 
design has been modified to create two parking spaces within an attached garage.  There is no 
impact to street parking. 
 
The new garage is proposed to be attached to the existing historic single-family home at 224 
San Jose Avenue. As a part of this proposal, the applicant is requesting a lot merger to combine 
the two adjacent parcels. The lot merger requires a ministerial permit, which must be completed 
prior to construction.  
 
DISCUSSION 
The following table outlines the zoning code development requirements in the CV (Central 
Village) Zoning District relative to the application.  
 

Use 

Property is in Residential Overlay District.  Cherry Avenue Overlay 

Existing First Floor 584 sq. ft. 

 Second Floor n/a 

Proposed Garage 478 sq. ft. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 13



 
 

 

Addition 

 First Floor  617 sq. ft. 

 Second Floor 403 sq. ft. 

 Total 1095 sq. ft. 

Historic 

Level of Historic Feature (local/state/federal or n/a)  Local 

Completed DPR523. (if yes, list consultant) No 

Significant Alteration of Historic Feature? (CUP required)  Yes 

Development Standards 

Building Height CV Regulation Proposed 

 27 ft. max 21 ft. 

Lot Coverage 

In the Cherry Avenue residential overlay area: Lots between 
1,001 and 2,000 square feet shall be allowed 80% 
lot coverage.   

Maximum Lot 
Coverage:   
80 % of lot or  
1,440 sq. ft. 

Proposed 
Lot 
Coverage:   
1,253 sq. ft. 

Yards  

There are no yard requirements in the C-V zone, except that 
10% of lot area shall be developed as landscaped open area, 
at least partially fronting on, and open to, the street.  No 
portion of this landscaped area shall be used for off-street 
parking. 

1,800 sq. ft. lot 
10% of lot is 
180 sq. ft. 
required 

324 sq. ft. 
proposed 

Parking 
 

Residential up to 1,500 sq. ft.) Required 
2 spaces total 

 

Proposed 
2 covered 

garage space 
 

Underground Utilities – required with 25% increase area Required  

 
The application complies with all development standards of the Central Village zoning district.   
 
Design Permit 
The existing structure at 224 San Jose Avenue is one of the original beach cottages of the 
Capitola Village. The historic home design is defined by the simple rectangular footprint, gable 
roof with knee brackets, exposed rafter tails, front porch with square posts, board and batten 
wood siding, and trimmed double hung windows.   The proposed addition will be located off the 
rear of the home with little impact to the original cottage.   
 
The addition includes a two-car garage on the first-story with living space above.  To 
accommodate the required 20-foot internal width of a two-car garage, the side of the garage will 
come within three inches of the side property line along Cherry Avenue.  The second story is 
stepped in three feet to provide increased separation from the neighbor.  The neighboring home 
on Cherry is stepped in on the first story but located just a few inches from the property line on 
the second story.    
 
The proposed materials on the new addition compliment the historic home while clearly 
differentiating old from new.  The new addition will introduce tongue and groove siding, a copper 
belly band, a double gable roof with beam tails, and a small metal shed roof above the windows 

5.A

Packet Pg. 14



 
 

 

on the second story on the front and rear elevations.  The double garage door will be wood.  
The proposed wood and metal finishes will fit in well with the neighborhood.      
 
Conditional Use Permit 
Since the existing residence is historic, the application requires approval of a Conditional Use 
Permit to ensure the addition will not be significantly detrimental to the historic feature pursuant 
to §17.60.030.C.1.  The application was reviewed by an Architectural Historian, Leslie Dill, for 
compliance with the Secretary of Interior Standards pursuant to the California Environmental 
Quality Act (CEQA).  On January 27, 2017, Ms. Dill provided findings that the application, with 
the incorporation of minor additions to general project notes within the building plans, meets the 
Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of Historic Properties rehabilitation 
standards (Attachment 2).  
 
CEQA 
Section 15301 of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures.  This project 
involves the addition of a new garage with second-story living space above located in the CV 
(Central Village) Zoning District. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION  
Staff recommends the Planning Commission approve project application #16-108, based on the 
findings and conditions.    
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval consists of an addition of a new double car garage with living space 

on the second story attached to the historic residence at 224 San Jose Avenue. The 
project consists of constructing a 478 square-foot garage, a 33 square-foot connection 
on the first floor, and a 403 square-foot second-story living area above the garage. The 
maximum allowed lot coverage for properties in the Cherry Avenue residential overlay is 
80% for an 1,800 square foot property (1,440 square feet). The total lot coverage of the 
project is 1,253 square feet. The project approval includes approval of a Design Permit 
and Conditional Use Permit. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final 
plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on April 6, 2017, except as 
modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans.  
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At time of building permit submittal, a no-rise study and elevation certificate must be 
submitted to the Building Official’s satisfaction.  

 
5. At time of building plan submittal, the plans shall include language on the cover sheet 

referring to the property as an “Historic Resource”, requiring review of all design 
revisions, and that the project should include notes that the existing historic elements are 
to be protected during construction.  
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 15



 
 

 

6. At time of building plan submittal, the California State Historical Building Code shall be 
referenced in the architectural notes on the front page, in the event that this preservation 
code can provide support to the project design.  
 

7. During excavation, if potential archeological resources are found, the excavation must 
halt immediately and the contractor must notify the City of Capitola immediately.  
Construction will not be permitted to resume until appropriate investigations, reporting, 
data recovery, and mitigation measures have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the 
Community Development Director.     
 

8. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 
Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP).   
 

9. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval and potentially a review by the Historic Architect for 
continued conformance with the Secretary of Interior standards.  
 

10. Prior to making any changes to the historic structure, the applicant and/or contractor 
shall field verify all existing conditions of the historic buildings and match replacement 
elements and materials according to the approved plans.  Any discrepancies found 
between approved plans, replacement features and existing elements must be reported 
to the Community Development Department for further direction, prior to construction. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect 
the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species 
and details of irrigation systems, if proposed.  Native and/or drought tolerant species are 
recommended.       
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #16-108 
shall be paid in full. 
 

13. Affordable Housing in-lieu fees shall be paid prior to issuance of building permit, in 
accordance with chapter 18.02 of the Capitola Municipal Code.  
 

14. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.   
 

15. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   

16. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 
control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 16



 
 

 

17. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

18. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 
 

19. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

20. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

21. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches or street edge shall be 
replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches shall meet current Accessibility 
Standards. 
 

22. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

 
23. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 

an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration, as well as a recorded deed reflecting the lot line adjustment.   
Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to expiration pursuant 
to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

24. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall submit evidence that a 
Certificate of Compliance to merge the two parcels has been recorded with the County 
Clerk.  
 

25. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

26. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
shielded and placed out of public view on non-collection days.  

 
 

5.A

Packet Pg. 17



 
 

 

FINDINGS 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project secures the purpose of 
the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. The integrity of the historic 
resource will be maintained with the proposed garage and second-story living space.   
 

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the two-story addition off the rear of the historic 
resource. The new garage and living space will not overwhelm the existing historic 
structure. The design does not compromise the integrity of the historic resource.   

 
C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15301 of the California    

Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15301) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts additions to existing structures.  This 
project involves the addition of a new garage with second-story living space above 
located in the CV (Central Village) Zoning District. No adverse environmental impacts 
were discovered during review of the proposed project.  
  

COASTAL FINDINGS 
 

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of 
specific written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed 
development conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not 
limited to: 
 

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan 
(LCP). The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as 
follows:  

 
(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for 
public access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) 
(2) (a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for 
the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial 
evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a condition of 
approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which have been 
identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in this section, 
“cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in combination with 
the effects of past projects, other current projects, and probable future projects, 
including development allowed under applicable planning and zoning. 

 
(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the 
regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects 
upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the 
project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access 
and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and 

5.A

Packet Pg. 18



 
 

 

upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or 
cumulative build-out. Projection for the anticipated demand and need for 
increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of 
the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any such projected 
increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site and its proximity to 
the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, and trail linkages to 
tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance and potential of the site, 
because of its location or other characteristics, for creating, preserving or 
enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation opportunities;  
 

 The proposed project is located at 224 San Jose Avenue.  The home is not located 
in an area with coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public trails or 
beach access. 
 

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion 
or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence 
of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the 
season when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and 
the proximity of that line to existing structures, and any other factors which 
substantially characterize or affect the shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes and beach profile 
unrelated to the proposed development. Description and analysis of any 
reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of 
the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the 
project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability 
of the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the 
vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in 
combination with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the 
public to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 
 

 The proposed project is located along San Jose Avenue and Cherry Avenue.  No 
portion of the project is located along the shoreline or beach.   

 
(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the 
general public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). 
Evidence of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, 
blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of 
any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved the area subject to 
historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed and 
improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically 
used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the 
potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use);  
 

 There is not history of public use on the subject lot.     

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 

5.A

Packet Pg. 19



 
 

 

development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to see the 
shoreline; 

 The proposed project is located on private property on San Jose Avenue and 
Cherry Avenue.  The project will not block or impede the ability of the public to 
get to or along the tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline.   

 
 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or 
other aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to 
diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. 
Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public 
use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of 
public lands which may be attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of 
the development.    
 

 The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access 
and recreation.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of tidelands or 
lands committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or recreational 
value of public use areas. 
 

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination 
that one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be 
supported by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all 
of the following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to 
be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility 
which is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the 
subject land. 

 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings 
do not apply. 

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in 
support of a condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and 
manner or character of public access use must address the following factors, as 
applicable: 

5.A

Packet Pg. 20



 
 

 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the 
reasons supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by 
limiting the hours, seasons, or character of public use; 

 The project contains a residential use.    

 b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 The project is located on a flat lot.   

 c. Recreational needs of the public; 

 The project does not impact recreational needs of the public.  

 d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting 
the project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of 
dedication is the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods 
as part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
(D) (5)  Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and 
as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 
requirements); 
 

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed 
project. 

  
(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;  

 
SEC. 30222 

The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record, zoned CV 
(Commercial Village).     

SEC. 30223 

Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for 
such uses, where feasible. 

 The project involves a single family home on a residential lot of record, zoned CV 
(Commercial Village).      

5.A

Packet Pg. 21



 
 

 

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 

 

 The project involves a single family home, not a visitor-serving facility.   

 (D) (7)  Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for 
provision of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 
 

 The project involves the construction of a single family home.  The project 
complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision pedestrian 
access and alternate means of transportation and/or traffic improvements.  
 

(D) (8)  Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by 
the city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 
 

 The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 
Municipal Code.   

  
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public 
landmarks, protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract 
from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

 The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The 
project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.   

 
(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 

 The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer 
services.   

 
(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;  
 

 The project is located within close proximity of the Capitola fire department.  Water is 
available at the location.   

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

 The project is for a single family home.  The GHG emissions for the project are 
projected at less than significant impact. All water fixtures must comply with the low-
flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be 
required;  
 

 The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 
(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

5.A

Packet Pg. 22



 
 

 

 

 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.   
 
(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological 
protection policies;  
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established 
policies. 

 
(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

 The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where 
Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 
 

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect 
marine, stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable 
erosion control measures. 

 
(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified 
professional for projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal 
bluffs, and project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 
 

 Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this 
project.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the 
California Building Standards Code.   
 

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and 
mitigated in the project design; 

 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with 
geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the 
project design. 

   
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
  

 The proposed project complies with shoreline structure policies. 
  

(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses 
of the zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

 This use is a principally permitted use consistent with the Central Village zoning 
district.  

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project review procedures; 
 

 The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements 
and project development review and development procedures. 

5.A

Packet Pg. 23



 
 

 

 
(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:  
 
 The project site is located within the area of the Capitola Village parking permit area 

and complies with required parking. 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. 224 San Jose Plans 
2. 224 San Jose Historic Review 

 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Senior Planner 

5.A

Packet Pg. 24



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 25

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 P
la

n
s 

 (
18

01
 :

 2
24

 S
an

 J
o

se
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 26

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 P
la

n
s 

 (
18

01
 :

 2
24

 S
an

 J
o

se
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 27

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 P
la

n
s 

 (
18

01
 :

 2
24

 S
an

 J
o

se
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 28

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 P
la

n
s 

 (
18

01
 :

 2
24

 S
an

 J
o

se
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 29

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 P
la

n
s 

 (
18

01
 :

 2
24

 S
an

 J
o

se
 A

ve
n

u
e)



5.A.1

Packet Pg. 30

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 P
la

n
s 

 (
18

01
 :

 2
24

 S
an

 J
o

se
 A

ve
n

u
e)



 

 

 

SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR’S STANDARDS REVIEW 

 

 

 

 

PROPOSED REHABILITATION AND ADDITION PROJECT 

 

at the 

 

HISTORIC RESIDENCE AT 224 SAN JOSE AVENUE 

 

 

 

Calvert Residence 

 

224 San Jose Avenue 

 (Parcel Number 035-184-07) 

Capitola, Santa Cruz County 

California 

 

 

 

For: 

 

 City of Capitola  

Attn: Katie Cattan, Senior Planner 

Community Development Department 

420 Capitola Avenue 

Capitola, CA 95010 

 

 

Prepared by: 

 
A R C H I V E S  &  A R C H I T E C T U R E  L L C  

PO Box 1332 

San Jose, CA  95109 

408.369.5683 Vox 

408.228.0762 Fax 

 

Leslie A. G. Dill, Partner and Historic Architect 

 

August 3, 2016 

Revised January 27, 2017 

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 31

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ev
ie

w
  (

18
01

 :
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 A
ve

n
u

e)



2 

 

ARCHIVES & ARCHITECTURE LLC  

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

 

Summary 

With the incorporation of minor additions to the general project notes, this proposed residential 

rehabilitation and addition project will meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for the Treatment of 

Historic Properties – Rehabilitation Standards (Standards). The recommendations are summarized here, 

and the analysis is described more fully in the report that follows: 

 

The project plans do not specifically address the historic status of the property. It is recommended 

that language on the cover sheet should refer to the property as an Historic Resource, requiring 

review of all design revisions, and that the project should include notes that the existing historic 

elements are to be protected during construction be included (Standard 6).  

 

Note that the City’s requirement for two parking spaces creates an impact on the setting/design of the 

property. This design review analysis accomodates for this constraint. The previous design, with a 

completely detached new structure (as reviewed August 3, 2016) represented a more compatible design 

than the current proposal.  

 

Report Intent 

Archives & Architecture, LLC (A&A), was retained by the City of Capitola to conduct a Secretary of the 

Interior’s Standards Review of the proposed rehabilitation and addition project proposed for an historic 

property at 224 San Jose Avenue, Capitola, California. A&A was asked to review the exterior elevations, 

plans, and site plan of the project to determine if the proposed project is in compliance with the Secretary 

of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (Standards). The Standards are understood to be a common 

set of guidelines for the review of historic buildings and are used by many communities during the 

environmental review process to determine the potential impact of a project on an identified resource. If a 

project meets the Standards, it is considered to have mitigated the project to a “less than significant” 

impact under the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA).  

 

Qualifications   

Leslie A. G. Dill, Partner of the firm Archives & Architecture, has a Master of Architecture with a 

certificate in Historic Preservation from the University of Virginia. She is licensed in California as an 

architect. Ms. Dill is listed with the California Office of Historic Preservation as meeting the requirements 

to perform identification, evaluation, registration, and treatment activities within the professions of 

Historic Architect and Architectural Historian in compliance with state and federal environmental laws. 

The state utilizes the criteria of the National Park Service as outlined in 36 CFR Part 61. 

 

Review Methodology 

For this report, Leslie Dill referred to the historic survey listing of the residence in the Capitola 

Architectural Survey. In June, 2016, a set of proposed plans, dated May 23, 2016, were forwarded for 

review. The plans were prepared by Dennis Norton, of Dennis Norton Home Design and Project Planning. 

That design was reviewed in August, 2016, and found to meet the Standards. During the review process, 

the City of Capitola determined that the initial design needed to be revised to include two parking spaces. 

The design was revised and returned to A&A for review. On November, 22 2016, comments were 

provided by A&A, with recommendations for revisions. After revision, the current drawing set, dated 

January 14, 2017, was forwarded to A&A for review. For this report, A&A evaluated, according to the 

Standards, this set of prints including Sheets 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 9, the BMP, and a property survey.  

 

 

 

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 32

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ev
ie

w
  (

18
01

 :
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 A
ve

n
u

e)



3 

 

ARCHIVES & ARCHITECTURE LLC  

 

 

Disclaimers 

This report addresses the project plans in terms of historically compatible design of the exterior of the 

residence and its setting. The consultant has not undertaken and will not undertake an evaluation or report 

on the structural conditions or other related safety hazards that might or might not exist at the site and 

building, and will not review the proposed project for structural soundness or other safety concerns. The 

Consultant has not undertaken analysis of the site to evaluate the potential for subsurface resources. 

 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: 

 

 
 

Character of the Existing Resource 

The parcel at 224 San Jose Avenue was first identified as part of the Capitola Architectural Survey 

published in 1986. The Survey says merely, “224 San Jose Avenue; Vernacular Cottage; ca. 1900. 

Symmetrical façade with clean vertical lines enhanced by four square columns. Bracketed gable with 

simple bargeboard.” (See image above.) To review the design of the proposed alterations and addition 

project, Archives & Architecture, LLC created an initial in-house list of character-defining features, also 

utilizing the photographs submitted by the applicant. The list includes, but may not be limited to: the 

compact, rectangular footprint of the main, historic wing; the low one-

story massing; the full-width front-gabled roof; the full-width recessed 

front porch with its square outer posts and siding-clad beam; the 

exposed rafter tails, gable-end knee brackets, and lack of gutters; its 

individually placed wood, double-hung windows around the perimeter 

of the house, along with the few high accent windows near the back of 

the house; the flat-board trim at the windows and doors; the vertical 

board-and-batten wood siding and flat corner boards, and the large 

rectangular wood louvered vent at the front gable end. Of unknown 

date, and not character-defining features, are a low shed in the back 

corner of the house and a fenced rear patio. The shed and fence are 

proposed for removal. A one-story full-width detached garage at the 

back property line is shown on the 1922 Sanborn Map; this structure is 

no longer extant. (See image to right.) 

 

Summary of the Proposed Project 

The proposed project includes the construction of an attached two-car garage with upstairs living space at 

the rear (nominally east) end of the rectangular historic property. This addition will replace an existing 

driveway/parking space and fenced rear yard. The proposed addition is two stories. The original house 

would remain otherwise unaltered.  

 

 

 

 

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 33

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ev
ie

w
  (

18
01

 :
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 A
ve

n
u

e)



4 

 

ARCHIVES & ARCHITECTURE LLC  

 

 

SECRETARY’S STANDARD’S REVIEW: 

 

The Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation (Standards), originally published in 1977 and 

revised in 1990, include ten standards that present a recommended approach to repair, while preserving 

those portions or features that convey a resource’s historical, cultural, or architectural values. 

Accordingly, Standards states that, “Rehabilitation is defined as the act or process of making possible a 

compatible use for a property through repair, alterations, and additions while preserving those portions or 

features which convey its historical, cultural, or architectural values.” Following is a summary of the 

review with a list of the Standards and associated analysis for this project: 

 

1. “A property will be used as it was historically or be given a new use that requires minimal 

change to its distinctive materials, features, spaces, and spatial relationships.” 

 

 Analysis: There is no effective change of use proposed for this residential property.  

 

2. “The historic character of a property shall be retained and preserved. The removal of 

historic materials or alteration of features, spaces, and spatial relationships that 

characterize a property will be avoided.” 

 

 Analysis: None of the historic footprint of the main original house is proposed for removal in this 

project; the forms and footprints of the historic residence will generally be preserved. A visual 

separation of the house from the proposed detached building will be provided by a break between 

the south eavelines and by an offset of the addition in plan. The three outer corners of the historic 

roof will be preserved in this project, creating a sense of the historic extents of the cottage. The 

four corners of the house will be understood visually with offsets at the addition. 

 

 The new addition will abut the rear (east) end of the historic cottage. There are three windows and 

one door on this original elevation. One window will be preserved in situ; the back door will be 

replaced by a new interior door, and two windows will be filled in. These windows are not focal 

units and do not represent a preponderance of the character-defining composition represented by 

the historic original window design. 

 

3. “Each property will be recognized as a physical record of its time, place, and use. Changes 

that create a false sense of historical development, such as adding conjectural features or 

architectural elements from other historic properties, will not be undertaken.” 

 

Analysis: There are no proposed elements that might be mistaken for original features or that 

could be considered as copied from other properties. All proposed elements, materials, and forms 

will be used in adequately differentiated dimensions and in modern materials and proportions; 

these features will not create a false sense of historical development. (See also Standard 9). 

 

4. “Changes to a property that have acquired historic significance in their own right will be 

retained and preserved.” 

 

 Analysis: No existing changes to the property have been identified as having acquired historic 

significance in their own right. The small rear shed proposed for demolition is understood to be 

recent, as is the fenced patio.  

 

 

 

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 34

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ev
ie

w
  (

18
01

 :
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 A
ve

n
u

e)



5 

 

ARCHIVES & ARCHITECTURE LLC  

 

 

5. “Distinctive materials, features, finishes, and construction techniques or examples of 

craftsmanship that characterize a property will be preserved.” 

 

 Analysis: Except as noted in Standards 2 and 9, the features, finishes, and construction 

techniques or examples of craftsmanship that characterize the property are generally preserved in 

this proposal. Specifically, the form, siding, porch, windows, trim and other related character-

defining features of the historic cottage are shown as preserved as a part of the project. 

 

6. “Deteriorated historic features will be repaired rather than replaced. Where the severity of 

deterioration requires replacement of a distinctive feature, the new feature will match the 

old in design, color, texture, and, where possible, materials. Replacement of missing features 

will be substantiated by documentary and physical evidence.” 

 

 Analysis: The current physical condition of the house appears visually to be very good, and the 

historic features are shown as preserved in the project drawings. It is recommended that general 

notes be added to the final building permit document cover sheet, which would note the historic 

significance of the property and indicate that all changes to the project plans must be reviewed, 

and note that the existing historic elements are to be protected during construction.  

 

7. “Chemical or physical treatments, if appropriate, will be undertaken using the gentlest 

means possible. Treatments that cause damage to historic materials will not be used.” 

 

 Analysis: No chemical or physical treatments are shown as proposed for the historic building in 

this proposed scope of work. 

 

8. “Archeological resources will be protected and preserved in place. If such resources must be 

disturbed, mitigation measures will be undertaken.” 

 

 Analysis: Archeological resources are not evaluated in this report. 

 

9. “New additions, exterior alterations or related new construction will not destroy historic 

materials, features, and spatial relationships that characterize the property. The new work 

shall be differentiated from the old and will be compatible with the historic materials, 

features, size, scale and proportion, and massing to protect the integrity of the property and 

its environment.” 

 

 Analysis: The proposed addition is generally differentiated from the design of the historic house, 

and is compatible with the historic property in form, size, massing, scale, and proportion.  

 

 The addition includes a gap between the rear of the historic cottage roof and the new second 

story. This narrow space provides clarity of separation between the original house footprint and 

the proposed rear building. The doubled form of the proposed roof creates a compatible visual 

size, subordinate to the full-width, gabled historic cottage roof. The new addition’s gabled roof is 

in keeping with the historic main roof gabled form, and has a matching roof slope to the historic 

roof, but is set at a 90-degree angle, providing differentiation. The front cottage features tall wall 

plates, and the new first-floor walls are lower, and do not overwhelm the original house. The 

proposed garage/residence includes a shallow cantilever above the garage door, providing 

additional differentiation in form; the projecting upper wall area is of a compatible size to the 

front façade of the historic cottage. The historic house remains generally intact in massing and 

form.  

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 35

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ev
ie

w
  (

18
01

 :
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 A
ve

n
u

e)



6 

 

ARCHIVES & ARCHITECTURE LLC  

 

 

 

 The current design of the proposed materials and detailing is generally both compatible and 

differentiated from the historic design. Specifically, the siding, window size, type and lite pattern, 

eaves, and various trims and detailing meet this standard. 

 

 The proposed standing-seam metal roof on the new addition is compatible in scale and 

dimensions with the historic house materials; it is differentiated by its use of metal in lieu of 

composition shingles. The standing-seam design is compatible with the scale and dimensions of 

the board-and-batten siding design of the historic house. The shed-roof awnings are compatible in 

size, materials, and scale with the historic property; the historic house has nothing similar, so the 

element is differentiated. The proposed eave design of the new addition is compatible with the 

historic house design with respect to the overhang depth and the thickness of the eaves; the design 

is differentiated by having closed eaves and including gutters. The inclusion of a single ridge 

beam tail at each apex of the new gable ends provides scale and detailing to the proposed 

addition, without imparting a sense of false historicism. If composition shingle roofing is chosen 

for the addition, it would also be compatible in scale with the shingled roof of the historic cottage. 

 

 The proposed horizontal siding is compatible in scale with the historic board-and-batten siding, 

and it is differentiated by a change in orientation and width of the siding joints.  

 

 The proportions of the new back entrance are compatible with the proportions of the fenestration 

and entrances of the historic house. The proposed new windows and French doors, are compatible 

in scale with the historic windows and are proportionately sized and placed with respect to the 

historic fenestration configuration. The proposed windows have panes that are similar in size to 

the window panes at the historic house, but the style and type of the windows will be modern 

casements. They will be clearly differentiated by their modern style and overall opening type. 

 

  The garage door design includes some trim elements that divide the expanse of the opening and 

provide visual scale with the surrounding materials. The copper belly band is a compatible scale 

and dimensions with the historic house and its siding and trim. 

 

 The proposed new rear “French” balcony is differentiated from the historic house by its non-

cantilevered or supported (“flat”) design and modern guardrail elements. The guardrail design is 

illustrated as being compatible with the repetitive size and pattern of such historic elements as the 

board-and-batten siding and shingles.  

 

10. “New additions and adjacent or related new construction will be undertaken in such a 

manner that, if removed in the future, the essential form and integrity of the historic 

property and its environment would be unimpaired.” 

 

 Analysis: The proposed design would preserve the essential form and integrity of the history 

property. While much of the framing would need to be restored, the remaining character-defining 

features of the house would be unimpaired in this project. 

 

Conclusion 

 

With the inclusion of general notes to the cover sheet of the building permit set, the currently proposed 

rehabilitation and addition project would meet the Secretary of the Interior’s Standards for Rehabilitation. 

 

5.A.2

Packet Pg. 36

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 H
is

to
ri

c 
R

ev
ie

w
  (

18
01

 :
 2

24
 S

an
 J

o
se

 A
ve

n
u

e)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 6, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: 1842 48th Ave #17-008 034-023-32 
 

Design Permit to remodel an existing single-family residence and construct a 
546-square foot addition and a new 245 square foot garage, located in the R-1 
(Single-Family Residential) zoning district. 
This project is in the Coastal Zone but does not require a Coastal Development 
Permit. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Dent Organization, Inc. 
Representative: Robin Alaga, filed: 1/25/17 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The application is for a design permit for a remodel and addition, including an attached one-car 
garage, to an existing single-story residence at 1842 48th Avenue. The property is in the R-1 
(Single-Family Residential) zoning district. The existing residence is not considered historic.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The Architectural and Site Review Committee reviewed the application on March 8th, 2017 and 
provided the applicant with the following direction: 
 
Public Works Representative, Danielle Uharriet: informed the applicant that an encroachment 
permit is required prior to any work in the City right-of-way, and that standard Storm Water Best 
Management Practices must be included in the building plans. 
 
Building Official, Brian Van Son: did not have any comments. 

 

Local Architect, Frank Phanton: appreciated the design and did not have any comments. 
 
City Planner, Ryan Safty: directed the applicant to label the proposed parking spaces in the 
plans and to clarify if the rear patio is covered.  
 
Following the Architectural and Site Review hearing, the applicant submitted revised plans 
which addressed the committee’s comments. 

 

5.B

Packet Pg. 37



 
 

 

ZONING SUMMARY 
The following table outlines the zoning code requirements for development in the R-1(Single 
Family Residential) Zoning District relative to the application.  The existing home and new 
addition comply with all development standards for the R-1 district.  
 

R-1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District 
 

Development Standards 

Building Height R-1 Regulation Proposed 

 25 ft. 14 ft. 

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 4,000 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 54% (Max: 2,160 sq. ft.) 

 Existing Floor Area 996 sq. ft. 

 Proposed New Floor Area 474 sq. ft. 

 Proposed New Garage Area 245 sq. ft. 

 Covered Porch Floor Area (150 sq. ft. credit) 117 sq. ft. (-150) = 0 sq. ft. 

   TOTAL FAR 1,715 sq. ft. (43%) 

Yards (setbacks are measured from the edge of the public right-of-way) 

Corner lot? If yes, update regulations for corner lots No 

 R-1 Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 feet 15 ft. from right-of-way 

Front Yard Garage 20 feet 20 ft. from right-of-way 

Side Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
width 

Lot width 40 
4 ft. min. 

4 ft. from property line on both 
sides 

Rear Yard 1st Story 20% of 
lot depth 

Lot depth 100  
20 ft. min. 

20 ft. from property line 

Encroachments (list all) Side yard patio legally encroaches within 3 ft. of south-side 
property line. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 1,501 up to 
2,000 sq. ft.) 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

2 spaces total 
1 covered 
1 uncovered 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in 
area 

Yes, required. 
(Condition of Approval #5) 

 
 
DISCUSSION 
The existing residence at 1842 48th Avenue is single story, single-family residence.    The 
applicant is proposing to remodel the existing residence to improve the look of the home, create 
more living space, and add a garage.  The front door of the existing home faces the side yard. 
The applicant is proposing a new covered porch entry-way on the front of the home with new 
front door oriented toward the street.  The proposed exterior finishes will match the current 
exterior finishes of horizontal siding and a composition shingle roof. The application requires a 
design permit because the addition is greater than 400 square feet and is located on the front of 
the home.   
 
The proposed 1,715 square foot residence is required to have two on-site parking spaces, one 
of which must be covered. The proposal includes two full-size parking spaces: one in the new 

5.B

Packet Pg. 38



 
 

 

garage and one in the driveway. The proposal complies with all relevant code requirements and 
limitations. The garage will also be finished with horizontal siding and a composition shingle 
roof. 
 
CEQA REVIEW 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of single-family residences 
within a residential zone.  This project involves the remodel and addition to an existing single-
family residence located in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district. No adverse 
environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project. 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that the Planning Commission approve application #17-008 based on the 
following Conditions and Findings for Approval.  
 
CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

1. The project approval is for a remodel and 546 square foot addition to an existing single-
story residence at 1842 48th Avenue. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 4,000-
square foot property is 54% (2,160 square feet). The total FAR of the project is 43% with 
a total of 1,715 square feet of floor area, compliant with the maximum FAR within the 
zone. The proposed project is approved as indicated on the final plans reviewed and 
approved by the Planning Commission on April 6th, 2017, except as modified through 
conditions imposed by the Planning Commission during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans.  
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  

 

4. Affordable Housing in-lieu fees shall be paid prior to issuance of building permit, in 
accordance with chapter 18.02 of the Capitola Municipal Code.  
 

5. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.   
 

6. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 
Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP).   
 

7. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  

 

8. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan shall be submitted and 
approved by the Community Development Department.  The landscape plan must be 
modified to include a two-foot plantar strip along the driveway (§17.51.130). Landscape 
plans shall reflect the Planning Commission approval and shall identify type, size, and 

5.B

Packet Pg. 39



 
 

 

location of species and details of irrigation systems, if proposed.  Native and/or drought 
tolerant species are recommended.   

 
9. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #17-008 

shall be paid in full. 
 

10. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   

 
11. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 

control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

12. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

13. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 
 

14. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

15. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 

 

16. Prior to a project final, the applicant shall be responsible for installing all required 
frontage improvements including curb, gutter, and sidewalk along 48th Avenue for the 
length of the property frontage, pursuant to section 12.04.170 of the Capitola Municipal 
Code.  All sidewalks are to meet the standards for ADA accessibility. 
 

17. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 
Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

 
18. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance. The applicant shall have 

an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

5.B

Packet Pg. 40



 
 

 

19. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

20. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
shielded and placed out of public view on non-collection days.  

 
FINDINGS 

A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 
Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the  
Planning Commission have all reviewed the proposed residential addition. The project, 
with the conditions imposed, conforms to the development standards of the R-1 (Single-
Family Residential) zoning district and will carry out the objectives of the Zoning 
Ordinance, General Plan and Local Coastal Plan. 

 
B.  The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 

Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the  
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project as designed maintains 
the character and integrity of the neighborhood. The residential addition is minor and will 
not drastically alter the appearance of the home.  
 

C.  This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303(a) of the California 
Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations.  
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of single-family 
residences within a residential zone.  This project involves the remodel and addition to 
an existing single-family residence located in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning 
district. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the 
proposed project. 

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Project Plans 
 
Prepared By: Ryan Safty 
  Assistant Planner 

5.B

Packet Pg. 41



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 42

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
06

 :
 1

84
2 

48
th

 A
ve

)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 43

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
06

 :
 1

84
2 

48
th

 A
ve

)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 44

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
06

 :
 1

84
2 

48
th

 A
ve

)



5.B.1

Packet Pg. 45

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
06

 :
 1

84
2 

48
th

 A
ve

)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 6, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: 105 Sacramento Avenue #16-133 036-144-05 
 

Design Permit to demolish an existing residence and secondary dwelling unit and 
construction of a new two-story residence and attached secondary dwelling unit 
with variance requests for garage setbacks and driveway landscaping, located in 
the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District.   
This project is in the Coastal Zone and requires a Coastal Development Permit, 
which is appealable to the California Coastal Commission after all possible 
appeals are exhausted through the city. 
Environmental Determination: Categorical Exemption 
Property Owner: Lani and Tim Holdener 
Representative: Derek Van Alstine, filed: 6/28/16 

 
APPLICANT PROPOSAL 
The applicant requests a design permit to demolish the existing single-family residence and 
secondary dwelling unit at 105 Sacramento Avenue, and construct a new two-story single-family 
residence with an attached secondary dwelling unit and detached garage. The applicant is 
requesting variances to setbacks of the garage and required driveway landscaping strip. The 
existing property is considered a “flag lot” due to the L-shaped lot with 20 feet of street frontage 
along Sacramento Avenue. The subject property is located adjacent to the bluff within the R-1 
(Single-Family Residential) zoning district and the GH (Geologic Hazards) district. 
 
BACKGROUND 
On June 28th, 2016, the applicant applied for a design permit to build a new, two-story residence 
and detached garage at 105 Sacramento Avenue. The original proposal was for a 3,673 square 
foot single-family residence with variance requests for maximum allowed building height of the 
primary residence, second story setbacks for the primary residence, setbacks for the detached 
garage, and required driveway landscape strip.   
 
On November 3rd, 2016, the Planning Commission conditionally approved the application. The 
Planning Commission approved of the variances for detached garage setbacks, the two-foot 
landscape strip requirement for parking within the front setback, and height of the main 
residence, but denied the variance request for second story side yard setbacks of the main 
residence. The commission made findings for the variances based on the property being a flag-
lot, the required coastal bluff setback, and the preservation of the large cypress trees with 
shallow root systems.  
 

6.A

Packet Pg. 46



 
 

 

On November 16th, 2016, the Planning Department received an appeal of the Planning 
Commission’s approval at 105 Sacramento Avenue. The appellants cited concerns with the 
variance findings to height, the size and mass of the proposal, neighborhood privacy, 
maintenance of the cypress trees, asbestos exposure, coastal setbacks, tandem driveway 
parking, and conflict of interest in the Planning Commission decision. 
 
On January 24th, 2017, the property owner of 105 Sacramento Avenue withdrew their previous 
application with the intent to resubmit a smaller, revised design at a future date that addressed 
the neighbor’s concerns.  
 
On March 8th, 2017, the applicant submitted the current application with a new design for a 
single-family home with an attached secondary dwelling unit at 105 Sacramento Avenue 
(Attachment 1). The proposed residence and attached secondary dwelling unit would be 3,357 
square feet, which is over 300 square feet smaller than the previous proposal. The primary 
structure complies will all development standards of the code including height and second story 
setbacks.  The applicant is requesting a variance for garage setbacks and the required 
landscape strip for the driveway. 
 
ZONING SUMMARY 
The following table outlines the zoning code requirements for development in the R-1(Single 
Family Residential) Zoning District relative to the application.   
 

R-1 (Single Family Residential) Zoning District 
 

Coastal 

Is project within Coastal Zone? Yes 

Use 

Existing Use Single-Family + Second Unit 

Proposed Use Single-Family + Second Unit 

Principal Permitted or CUP? Principally Permitted 

Development Standards – Main Home 

 R-1 Regulation Proposed 

Building Height 25 ft.  25 ft.   

Floor Area Ratio (FAR) 

Lot Size 7,653 sq. ft. 

Maximum Floor Area Ratio 60% (Max 4,592 sq. ft.) 

  First Story Floor Area 1,132 sq. ft. 

  Second Story Floor Area 1,188 sq. ft. 

  2nd Story Deck + Covered Porch (150 sq. ft. allowance) 
       (199 sq. ft.) + (213 sq. ft.) = 412 sq. ft.  

262 sq. ft. 
(412 sq. ft. – 150 sq. ft.) 

  Detached Garage Floor Area 251 sq. ft. 

  Secondary Dwelling Unit Floor Area 524 sq. ft. 

   TOTAL FAR 3,357 sq. ft.  

Yards (setbacks are measured from the edge of the public right-of-way) 

 R-1 Regulation Proposed 

Front Yard 1st Story 15 feet 28 ft. from property line – North 

Front Yard  2nd Story  20 feet 28 ft. from property line - North 

Side Yard 1st Story 10% lot 
width 

Lot width 50 
5 ft. min. 

5 ft. from property line – East 
5 ft. from property line – West  

Side Yard 2nd Story 15% of Lot width 50   7.5 ft. from property line – East 

6.A

Packet Pg. 47



 
 

 

width 7.5 ft. min 7.5 ft. from property line – West  

Rear Yard 1st and 2nd Story 50-year 
bluff  

Roughly 50 ft. 55 ft. from property line - South 

Detached Garage 40’ minimum front yard 5 ft. from property line – North 
VARIANCE 

 8’ minimum rear yard 118 ft. to property line - South 

 3’ minimum side yard 36 ft. from property line – East 
43 ft. from property line – West 

Encroachments (list all) Chimney legally extends 2 ft. beyond the maximum 25 ft. 
height limit (§17.81.070).  

 20% of the second-story side wall (9 ft. on the east and 4 ft. 
on the west) legally encroaches 2.5 ft. into side yard setback. 

Development Standards – Secondary Dwelling Unit  

Allowed Secondary Dwelling Unit Size 

Maximum Unit Size (lots between 7,501 – 10,000 sq. ft.) 640 sq. ft. 

Proposed Unit Size 524 sq. ft. 

Parking 

 Required Proposed 

Residential (from 2,601 up to 
4,000 sq. ft.)  

4 spaces total 
1 covered 
3 uncovered 

4 spaces total  
1 covered 
3 uncovered 

Garage and Accessory Bldg. Complies with 
Standards? 

List non-compliance 

Garage No Does not meet setbacks - 
VARIANCE 

Underground Utilities: required with 25% increase in 
floor area 

Required  
(Condition of Approval #9) 

 
DISCUSSION 
The subject property is a flag-lot with a 20-foot wide access way fronting Sacramento Avenue. 
The property is bordered by neighboring homes to the north, west, and east, and the bluff to the 
south. Properties adjacent to the bluff are in the GH overlay district and are required to maintain 
a 50-year bluff erosion setback from the cliff. Haro, Kasunich and Associates engineering 
conducted a geologic study on the property based on the historical bluff recession rates and 
identified the 50-year bluff setback to be roughly 55 feet from the edge of the bluff (Attachment 
2). Therefore, roughly one-third of the property cannot be developed due to bluff-top setback 
requirements. In addition, there are three large cypress trees in the north-west corner of the 
property, two of which the owner would like to preserve. Preservation of the two, mature cypress 
trees requires roughly a 25-foot setback to the northern property line, further limiting the 
buildable area of the property. The proposed two-story residence would be centrally located on 
the property, with 28 feet of separation to the north and 55 feet from the bluff to the south.   
 
The applicant is proposing the detached garage and required on-site parking within the access 
way portion of the flag-lot property. The garage and parking would occupy most the access way, 
which would prevent vehicular access to the interior of the property. Behind the proposed 
garage and parking area are the large cypress trees that the applicant would like to preserve. 
The main residence would be located south of the garage, with the cypress trees in between. 
 
Design Permit 
The architectural style of the proposed new home includes Carmel fairytale design elements, 
with asymmetrical gable ends, wooden decorative trusses, and a mix of stone and stucco 

6.A

Packet Pg. 48



 
 

 

finishes. The front of the home, facing north, would have a covered porch leading to a Dutch 
door main entrance. The secondary dwelling unit would be built into the proposed residence, 
with similar architectural features to appear harmonious with the residence. The first story would 
be a mix of stone veneer and stucco siding, and the second story vertical batt and board. 
Composition shingles are proposed for the roof. The rear of the home would have a second-
story deck, overlooking the bluff.  
 
Floor Area Ratio 
The lot is 7,653 square feet in size. Lots greater than 5,000 square feet in the R-1 zoning district 
are allowed a maximum floor area ratio of 48% and up to 60% if the lot contains a secondary 
dwelling unit. The proposed development includes a secondary unit but does not utilize the 
additional allowance of extra floor area. The proposed 3,357 square foot home has a 44% floor 
area ratio.   
 
VARIANCE 
The applicant is requesting a variance to the setbacks of the detached garage and driveway 
landscape requirements. Pursuant to section 17.66.090 of the municipal code, the Planning 
Commission, based on the evidence submitted at the hearing, may grant a variance permit 
when it finds a special circumstance applicable to the subject property and where strict 
application of the code would deprive the property owner of privileges enjoyed by others in the 
vicinity.  
 
Setbacks are unique within a flag lot.  The following diagram shows the location of front, rear, 
and side yard setbacks as applied to the property at 105 Sacramento Avenue: 
 
 

6.A

Packet Pg. 49



 
 

 

 
Detached Garage Setbacks:  
The applicant requests variances to setback standards of the detached garage since the 
municipal code does not contain specific setback regulations for flag-lots. Generally, the access 
portion of the flag-lot is used for a driveway into the property. However, due to the location of 
the cypress trees, the applicant is proposing to construct the covered parking within the access 
portion of the flag lot.  
 
The access portion of the lot is located almost entirely within the required 15-foot front yard 
setback (see diagram above). The detached garage would be setback five-feet from the front 
(northern) property line when the required front-yard setback for a detached garage is 40 feet. 
The garage is proposed to be located 36 feet back from the property line along Sacramento 
Avenue and over 40 feet from the street due to the unimproved edge of right-of-way.  The 
garage will have separation along the sides with five feet of clearance from the property to the 
north and three feet of clearance to the south.  The proposed garage is ten feet wide.  
 
The applicant is requesting a variance to setbacks for the detached garage. The applicant is 
required one covered parking space and three uncovered spaces on-site for the proposed 
residence. The code does not contain specific setback requirements for structures within the 
access portion of a flag-lot. Due to the owner’s desire to preserve the large cypress trees, there 
is no location for the garage which would meet setback requirements without placing a driveway 
over the tree roots. The applicant pushed the proposed garage as far away from the street as 
possible. Special circumstance findings can be made due to the lot being flag shaped, which is 
dissimilar to most surrounding properties, and the limited buildable area of the property due to 
the presence of the mature cypress trees and 50-year bluff setback.   
 
Driveway Landscaping: 
The proposed 3,357 square foot two-story residence and attached secondary dwelling unit 
requires four on-site parking spaces, one of which must be covered. The applicant is proposing 
one covered space within a detached garage, and three uncovered spaces in front of the 
proposed garage. Two of the uncovered spaces would be side-by-side fronting Sacramento 
Avenue, with the third uncovered space in tandem behind the garage.  
 
The code requires two feet of landscaping in between uncovered parking within the front yard 
and the side property line (§17.51.130). The access way off Sacramento Avenue is only 20 feet 
wide, and uncovered parking spaces are required to be ten feet wide. Two side-by-side parking 
spaces would cover the entire 20-foot wide access area. The applicant is requesting a variance 
to waive the two-foot landscape strip requirement. Special circumstance findings can be made 
due to the lot being flag shaped, which is an unusual lot configuration. The subject property only 
has 20-feet of frontage along a public street, while most properties in the surrounding area have 
a minimum of 40 feet of street frontage.  
 
Coastal Commission Concerns 
On March 30, 2017, California Coastal Commission (CCC) staff sent a letter (Attachment 3) 
outlining their concerns with the geologic hazards (bluff retreat) of the proposed project and 
recommended adding conditions of approval related to potential geologic hazards.  
 
In their letter, CCC staff requested that the City add conditions of approval requiring the 
applicant to assume all risks associated with injury and damage resulting from receding bluffs, 
prohibit the applicant and future property owners from seeking shoreline protection devices 
(seawalls), and require the property owner to remove all improvements and restore the site to 
natural conditions as the bluff recedes.  These requested conditions have not been added to the 

6.A

Packet Pg. 50



 
 

 

permit because 1) City staff and the City Attorney do not believe the City or the CCC would be 
liable if improvements on the property are undermined by receding bluffs in the future; 2) the 
City cannot prevent a property owner from submitting an application for a seawall, although 
neither the City nor the CCC would be obligated to approve such application; and 3) the City 
has existing legal authority to require a property owner to remove improvements if they pose a 
threat to human health and safety. 
 
CEQA 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of one single-family 
residence or secondary dwelling unit in a residential zone. This project involves the construction 
of a two-story single-family residence and attached secondary dwelling unit in the R-1 (Single-
Family Residential) Zoning District. No adverse environmental impacts were discovered during 
review of the proposed project.  
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends the Planning Commission review the application and approve project 
application #16-133, based on the findings and conditions.    
 

CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 
1. The project approval is for the construction of a new, two-story single-family home at 105 

Sacramento Avenue. The project consists of construction of a 2,582 square foot two-
story residence, with a 524 square foot attached secondary dwelling unit on the first 
floor, and a 251 square foot detached garage. The maximum Floor Area Ratio for the 
7,653 square foot property is 60% (4,592 square feet) since a secondary dwelling unit is 
included. The total FAR of the project is 43% with a total of 3,357 square feet of floor 
area, compliant with the maximum FAR within the zone. The project includes approval of 
a variance to detached garage setbacks and to the two-foot landscape strip requirement 
next to the driveway within the front setback. The proposed project is approved as 
indicated on the final plans reviewed and approved by the Planning Commission on April 
6th, 2017, except as modified through conditions imposed by the Planning Commission 
during the hearing. 
 

2. Prior to construction, a building permit shall be secured for any new construction or 
modifications to structures authorized by this permit. Final building plans shall be 
consistent with the plans approved by the Planning Commission.  All construction and 
site improvements shall be completed according to the approved plans.  
 

3. At time of submittal for building permit review, the Conditions of Approval must be 
printed in full on the cover sheet of the construction plans.  
 

4. At the time of submittal for building permit review, Public Works Standard Detail Storm 
Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP) shall be printed in full and incorporated 
as a sheet into the construction plans.  All construction shall be done in accordance with 
Public Works Standard Detail Storm Water Best Management Practices (STRM-BMP).   
 

5. Prior to making any changes to approved plans, modifications must be specifically 
requested and submitted in writing to the Community Development Department.  Any 
significant changes to the size or exterior appearance of the structure shall require 
Planning Commission approval.  

 
6. Prior to issuance of building permit, a final landscape plan and tree preservation plan 

prepared by a certified arborist shall be submitted and approved by the Community 

6.A

Packet Pg. 51



 
 

 

Development Department.  Landscape plans shall reflect the Planning Commission 
approval and shall identify type, size, and location of species and details of irrigation 
systems, if proposed.  Native and/or drought tolerant species are recommended.       
 

7. Prior to issuance of building permit, all Planning fees associated with permit #16-133 
shall be paid in full. 
 

8. Affordable Housing in-lieu fees shall be paid prior to issuance of building permit, in 
accordance with chapter 18.02 of the Capitola Municipal Code.  

 

9. Prior to issuance of building permits, the building plans must show that the existing 
overhead utility lines will be underground to the nearest utility pole.   
 

10. A certified arborist must be present on-site during any tree trimming or removal work 
done on the cypress trees. The arborist shall also be present during any root mapping 
for the new foundation. 
 

11. Prior to issuance of a building permit, the applicant must provide documentation of plan 
approval by the following entities: Santa Cruz County Sanitation Department, Soquel 
Creek Water District, and Central Fire Protection District.   

 
12. Prior to issuance of building permits, a drainage plan, grading, sediment and erosion 

control plan, shall be submitted to the City and approved by Public Works.  The plans 
shall be in compliance with the requirements specified in Capitola Municipal Code 
Chapter 13.16 Storm Water Pollution Prevention and Protection. 
 

13. Prior to issuance of building permits, the applicant shall submit a stormwater 
management plan to the satisfaction of the Director of Public Works which implements 
all applicable Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) and Public Works Standard 
Details, including all standards relating to low impact development (LID). 
 

14. Prior to any land disturbance, a pre-site inspection must be conducted by the grading 
official to verify compliance with the approved erosion and sediment control plan. 
 

15. Prior to any work in the City road right of way, an encroachment permit shall be acquired 
by the contractor performing the work.  No material or equipment storage may be placed 
in the road right-of-way. 
 

16. During construction, any construction activity shall be subject to a construction noise 
curfew, except when otherwise specified in the building permit issued by the City.  
Construction noise shall be prohibited between the hours of nine p.m. and seven-thirty 
a.m. on weekdays. Construction noise shall be prohibited on weekends with the 
exception of Saturday work between nine a.m. and four p.m. or emergency work 
approved by the building official. §9.12.010B 
 

17. Prior to a project final, all cracked or broken driveway approaches or street edge shall be 
replaced per the Public Works Standard Details and to the satisfaction of the Public 
Works Department.  All replaced driveway approaches shall meet current Accessibility 
Standards. 
 

18. Prior to issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, compliance with all conditions of 
approval shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Community Development 

6.A

Packet Pg. 52



 
 

 

Director.  Upon evidence of non-compliance with conditions of approval or applicable 
municipal code provisions, the applicant shall remedy the non-compliance to the 
satisfaction of the Community Development Director or shall file an application for a 
permit amendment for Planning Commission consideration. Failure to remedy a non-
compliance in a timely manner may result in permit revocation. 

 
19. This permit shall expire 24 months from the date of issuance.   The applicant shall have 

an approved building permit and construction underway before this date to prevent 
permit expiration.   Applications for extension may be submitted by the applicant prior to 
expiration pursuant to Municipal Code section 17.81.160. 
 

20. The planning and infrastructure review and approval are transferable with the title to the 
underlying property so that an approved project may be conveyed or assigned by the 
applicant to others without losing the approval. The permit cannot be transferred off the 
site on which the approval was granted. 
 

21. Upon receipt of certificate of occupancy, garbage and recycling containers shall be 
shielded and placed out of public view on non-collection days.  
 

22. The floor area for secondary dwelling units shall not exceed 524 square feet as 
approved by the Planning Commission.  

 
23. At time of submittal for building permit review, a water letter for the second dwelling unit 

must be submitted. 
 

24. Before obtaining a building permit for a secondary dwelling unit, the property owner shall 
file with the county recorder a declaration of restrictions containing a reference to the 
deed under which the property was acquired by the present owner and stating that: 

A. The secondary dwelling unit shall not be sold separately; 
B. The unit is restricted to the approved size; 
C. The secondary dwelling unit shall be in effect only so long as the owner of 
record occupies either the main residence or the secondary dwelling unit; 
D. The above declarations are binding upon any successor in ownership of the 
property. Lack of compliance shall be cause for code enforcement and/or 
revoking the administrative review or the architecture and site review permit, 
whichever applies; 
E. The deed restrictions shall lapse upon removal of the secondary dwelling unit.  

 
FINDINGS 
A. The application, subject to the conditions imposed, secures the purposes of the 

Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local Coastal Plan. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the project. The project, with the conditions 
imposed, secures the purpose of the Zoning Ordinance, General Plan, and Local 
Coastal Plan.  
 

B. The application will maintain the character and integrity of the neighborhood. 
Community Development Staff, the Architectural and Site Review Committee, and the 
Planning Commission have all reviewed the application for a new two-story residence. 
The new home, with the conditions imposed, will maintain the character and integrity of 
the neighborhood. 

 

6.A

Packet Pg. 53



 
 

 

C. This project is categorically exempt under Section 15303 of the California    
Environmental Quality Act and is subject to Section 753.5 of Title 14 of the 
California Code of Regulations. 
Section 15303(a) of the CEQA Guidelines exempts the construction of one single-family 
residence or secondary dwelling unit in a residential zone. This project involves the 
construction of a new, two-story single-family residence and attached secondary 
dwelling unit on a property in the R-1 (Single-Family Residential) Zoning District. No 
adverse environmental impacts were discovered during review of the proposed project.  
  

D. Special circumstances applicable to the subject property, including size, shape, 
topography, location or surroundings, exist on the site and the strict application 
of this title is found to deprive subject property of privileges enjoyed by other 
properties in the vicinity and under identical zone classification; 
The special circumstances applicable to the property is that the subject property is a 
flag-lot, is within the GH (Geologic Hazard) overlay zone which requires expanded 
setbacks from coastal bluffs, and has large cypress trees which the owner would like to 
preserve. Due to the location of the existing trees, the applicant proposed the garage 
and parking spaces within the access portion of the flag-lot. Most the access way is 
located within the required front yard setback. Due to the special circumstances 
associated with the flag-lot configuration, geologic setbacks, and trees, there is no 
alternative location for the garage and parking while also meeting setback requirements.  
The property cannot fit two feet of landscaping in between the neighboring property lines 
and access way. Most properties in the neighborhood are not located on a flag-lot and 
thus have more room to accommodate landscape strips. A variance has been granted to 
reduce setbacks associated with a detached garage and to waive the two-foot landscape 
strip requirement for parking within the front setback. 
  

E.  The grant of a variance would not constitute a grant of a special privilege 
inconsistent with the limitation upon other properties in the vicinity and zone in 
which subject property is situated. 
The subject property does not front along the street and is limited to a 20-foot-wide 
access area to connect the property to Sacramento Avenue. Most properties within the 
area have roughly 40 feet of street frontage, and thus have much more room to locate 
required landscape strips. In addition, the municipal code does not list zoning standards 
specific to flag-lots. Using current R-1 (Single-Family Residential) zoning standards, 
most of the flag-lot portion of the property is within the required front-yard setback. The 
grant of a variance to detached garage setbacks and the two-foot landscape strip 
requirement would not constitute the grant of a special privilege since most properties in 
the area are not flag-lots and thus have more flexibility when designing.  

 
 
COASTAL FINDINGS 
 

D. Findings Required. A coastal permit shall be granted only upon adoption of 
specific written factual findings supporting the conclusion that the proposed 
development conforms to the certified Local Coastal Program, including, but not 
limited to: 
 

 The proposed development conforms to the City’s certified Local Coastal Plan 
(LCP). The specific, factual findings, as per CMC Section 17.46.090 (D) are as 
follows:  

 

6.A

Packet Pg. 54



 
 

 

(D) (2) Require Project-Specific Findings. In determining any requirement for 
public access, including the type of access and character of use, the city shall 
evaluate and document in written findings the factors identified in subsections (D) 
(2) (a) through (e), to the extent applicable. The findings shall explain the basis for 
the conclusions and decisions of the city and shall be supported by substantial 
evidence in the record. If an access dedication is required as a condition of 
approval, the findings shall explain how the adverse effects which have been 
identified will be alleviated or mitigated by the dedication. As used in this section, 
“cumulative effect” means the effect of the individual project in combination with 
the effects of past projects, other current projects, and probable future projects, 
including development allowed under applicable planning and zoning. 

 
(D) (2) (a) Project Effects on Demand for Access and Recreation. Identification of 
existing and open public access and coastal recreation areas and facilities in the 
regional and local vicinity of the development. Analysis of the project’s effects 
upon existing public access and recreation opportunities. Analysis of the 
project’s cumulative effects upon the use and capacity of the identified access 
and recreation opportunities, including public tidelands and beach resources, and 
upon the capacity of major coastal roads from subdivision, intensification or 
cumulative build-out. Projection for the anticipated demand and need for 
increased coastal access and recreation opportunities for the public. Analysis of 
the contribution of the project’s cumulative effects to any such projected 
increase. Description of the physical characteristics of the site and its proximity to 
the sea, tideland viewing points, upland recreation areas, and trail linkages to 
tidelands or recreation areas. Analysis of the importance and potential of the site, 
because of its location or other characteristics, for creating, preserving or 
enhancing public access to tidelands or public recreation opportunities;  
 

 The proposed project is located at 105 Sacramento Avenue.  The home is not 
located in an area with coastal access. The home will not have an effect on public 
trails or beach access. 
 

(D) (2) (b) Shoreline Processes. Description of the existing shoreline conditions, 
including beach profile, accessibility and usability of the beach, history of erosion 
or accretion, character and sources of sand, wave and sand movement, presence 
of shoreline protective structures, location of the line of mean high tide during the 
season when the beach is at its narrowest (generally during the late winter) and 
the proximity of that line to existing structures, and any other factors which 
substantially characterize or affect the shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes at the site. 
Identification of anticipated changes to shoreline processes and beach profile 
unrelated to the proposed development. Description and analysis of any 
reasonably likely changes, attributable to the primary and cumulative effects of 
the project, to: wave and sand movement affecting beaches in the vicinity of the 
project; the profile of the beach; the character, extent, accessibility and usability 
of the beach; and any other factors which characterize or affect beaches in the 
vicinity. Analysis of the effect of any identified changes of the project, alone or in 
combination with other anticipated changes, will have upon the ability of the 
public to use public tidelands and shoreline recreation areas; 
 

 The proposed project is located along Sacramento Avenue.  The subject property is 

6.A

Packet Pg. 55



 
 

 

located adjacent to the bluff. The applicant will maintain the 50-year bluff recession 
setback from the cliff. The project will not affect public access to the shoreline or 
tidelands.  
 

(D) (2) (c) Historic Public Use. Evidence of use of the site by members of the 
general public for a continuous five-year period (such use may be seasonal). 
Evidence of the type and character of use made by the public (vertical, lateral, 
blufftop, etc., and for passive and/or active recreational use, etc.). Identification of 
any agency (or person) who has maintained and/or improved the area subject to 
historic public use and the nature of the maintenance performed and 
improvements made. Identification of the record owner of the area historically 
used by the public and any attempts by the owner to prohibit public use of the 
area, including the success or failure of those attempts. Description of the 
potential for adverse impact on public use of the area from the proposed 
development (including but not limited to, creation of physical or psychological 
impediments to public use);  
 

 There is not history of public use on the subject lot.     

(D)  (2) (d) Physical Obstructions. Description of any physical aspects of the 
development which block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along 
the tidelands, public recreation areas, or other public coastal resources or to 
see the shoreline; 

 The proposed project is located on private property on Sacramento Avenue.  The 
project will not block or impede the ability of the public to get to or along the 
tidelands, public recreation areas, or views to the shoreline.   

 
 (D) (2) (e) Other Adverse Impacts on Access and Recreation. Description of the 
development’s physical proximity and relationship to the shoreline and any public 
recreation area. Analysis of the extent of which buildings, walls, signs, streets or 
other aspects of the development, individually or cumulatively, are likely to 
diminish the public’s use of tidelands or lands committed to public recreation. 
Description of any alteration of the aesthetic, visual or recreational value of public 
use areas, and of any diminution of the quality or amount of recreational use of 
public lands which may be attributable to the individual or cumulative effects of 
the development.    
 

 The proposed project is located on private property that will not impact access 
and recreation to the sea.  The project does not diminish the public’s use of 
tidelands or lands committed to public recreation nor alter the aesthetic, visual or 
recreational value of public use areas. The applicant will maintain a 50-year bluff 
recession setback from the cliff. 
 

 (D) (3) (a – c) Required Findings for Public Access Exceptions. Any determination 
that one of the exceptions of subsection (F) (2) applies to a development shall be 
supported by written findings of fact, analysis and conclusions which address all 
of the following: 

a. The type of access potentially applicable to the site involved (vertical, 
lateral, bluff top, etc.) and its location in relation to the fragile coastal resource to 

6.A

Packet Pg. 56



 
 

 

be protected, the agricultural use, the public safety concern, or the military facility 
which is the basis for the exception, as applicable; 

b. Unavailability of any mitigating measures to manage the type, character, 
intensity, hours, season or location of such use so that agricultural resources, 
fragile coastal resources, public safety, or military security, as applicable, are 
protected; 

c. Ability of the public, through another reasonable means, to reach the same 
area of public tidelands as would be made accessible by an access way on the 
subject land. 

 The project is not requesting a Public Access Exception, therefore these findings 
do not apply. 

(D) (4) (a – f) Findings for Management Plan Conditions. Written findings in 
support of a condition requiring a management plan for regulating the time and 
manner or character of public access use must address the following factors, as 
applicable: 

a. Identification and protection of specific habitat values including the 
reasons supporting the conclusions that such values must be protected by 
limiting the hours, seasons, or character of public use; 

 The project is located on a residential lot.   

 b. Topographic constraints of the development site; 

 The project is located on a relatively flat lot. The subject property is located 
adjacent to the bluff. The applicant will maintain the 50-year bluff recession 
setback from the bluff. In addition, the applicant is proposing to preserve two 
large cypress trees on site.  

 c. Recreational needs of the public; 

 The project does not impact recreational needs of the public.  

 d. Rights of privacy of the landowner which could not be mitigated by setting 
the project back from the access way or otherwise conditioning the development; 

e. The requirements of the possible accepting agency, if an offer of 
dedication is the mechanism for securing public access; 

f. Feasibility of adequate setbacks, fencing, landscaping, and other methods 
as part of a management plan to regulate public use. 

 
(D) (5)  Project complies with public access requirements, including submittal of 
appropriate legal documents to ensure the right of public access whenever, and 
as, required by the certified land use plan and Section 17.46.010 (coastal access 

6.A

Packet Pg. 57



 
 

 

requirements); 
 

 No legal documents to ensure public access rights are required for the proposed 
project. 

  
(D) (6) Project complies with visitor-serving and recreational use policies;  

 
SEC. 30222 

The use of private lands suitable for visitor-serving commercial recreational 
facilities designed to enhance public opportunities for coastal recreation shall 
have priority over private residential, general industrial, or general commercial 
development, but not over agriculture or coastal-dependent industry. 

 The project involves a single family home and attached secondary dwelling unit 
on a residential lot of record.     

SEC. 30223 

Upland areas necessary to support coastal recreational uses shall be reserved for 
such uses, where feasible. 

 The project involves a single family home and attached secondary dwelling unit 
on a residential lot of record.     

c)  Visitor-serving facilities that cannot be feasibly located in existing developed 
areas shall be located in existing isolated developments or at selected points of 
attraction for visitors. 

 

 The project involves a single family home and attached secondary dwelling unit 
on a residential lot of record.     

 (D) (7) Project complies with applicable standards and requirements for provision 
of public and private parking, pedestrian access, alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements; 
 

 The project involves a single family home and attached secondary dwelling unit 
on a residential lot of record. The project complies with applicable standards and 
requirements for provision for parking, pedestrian access, and alternate means of 
transportation and/or traffic improvements.   

 
(D) (8)  Review of project design, site plan, signing, lighting, landscaping, etc., by 
the city’s architectural and site review committee, and compliance with adopted 
design guidelines and standards, and review committee recommendations; 
 

 The project complies with the design guidelines and standards established by the 
Municipal Code. A variance has been approved for the location of the detached 
garage and the driveway landscaping requirement due to the property being a flag 
lot.  

  
(D) (9) Project complies with LCP policies regarding protection of public 
landmarks, protection or provision of public views; and shall not block or detract 
from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline; 

 

6.A

Packet Pg. 58



 
 

 

 The project will not negatively impact public landmarks and/or public views.  The 
project will not block or detract from public views to and along Capitola’s shoreline.   

 
(D) (10) Demonstrated availability and adequacy of water and sewer services; 
 

 The project is located on a legal lot of record with available water and sewer 
services.   

 
(D) (11) Provisions of minimum water flow rates and fire response times;  
 

 The project is located within close proximity of the Capitola fire department.  Water is 
available at the location.   

 (D) (12) Project complies with water and energy conservation standards; 

 

 The project is for a single family home and attached secondary dwelling unit.  The 
GHG emissions for the project are projected at less than significant impact. All water 
fixtures must comply with the low-flow standards of the Soquel Creek Water District. 

 
(D) (13) Provision of park dedication, school impact, and other fees as may be 
required;  
 

 The project will be required to pay appropriate fees prior to building permit issuance. 
 
(D) (14) Project complies with coastal housing policies, and applicable ordinances 
including condominium conversion and mobile home ordinances; 

 

 The project does not involve a condo conversion or mobile homes.   
 
(D) (15) Project complies with natural resource, habitat, and archaeological 
protection policies;  
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with established 
policies. 

 
(D) (16) Project complies with Monarch butterfly habitat protection policies; 

 

 The project is outside of any identified sensitive habitats, specifically areas where 
Monarch Butterflies have been encountered, identified and documented. 
 

(D) (17) Project provides drainage and erosion and control measures to protect 
marine, stream, and wetland water quality from urban runoff and erosion; 
 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure compliance with applicable 
erosion control measures. 

 
(D) (18) Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified 
professional for projects in seismic areas, geologically unstable areas, or coastal 
bluffs, and project complies with hazard protection policies including provision of 
appropriate setbacks and mitigation measures; 

6.A

Packet Pg. 59



 
 

 

 

 Geologic/engineering reports have been prepared by qualified professionals for this 
project.  Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project applicant 
shall comply with all applicable requirements of the most recent version of the 
California Building Standards Code.   
 

(D) (19) All other geological, flood and fire hazards are accounted for and 
mitigated in the project design; 

 

 Conditions of approval have been included to ensure the project complies with 
geological, flood, and fire hazards and are accounted for and will be mitigated in the 
project design. 

   
(D) (20) Project complies with shoreline structure policies; 
  

 The proposed project complies with shoreline structure policies. 
  

(D) (21) The uses proposed are consistent with the permitted or conditional uses 
of the zoning district in which the project is located; 
 

 This use is a principally permitted use consistent with the Single-Family zoning 
district.  

(D) (22) Conformance to requirements of all other city ordinances, zoning 
requirements, and project review procedures; 
 

 The project conforms to the requirements of all city ordinances, zoning requirements 
and project development review and development procedures. A variance has been 
approved for the location of the detached garage and the driveway landscaping 
requirement due to the property being a flag lot.  

 
(D) (23) Project complies with the Capitola parking permit program as follows:  
 

 The project site is located within the area Depot Hill parking permit program; 
however, the project complies with on-site parking standards.  

 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Project Plans 
2. Geological Report 
3. Coastal Commission Letter 3/30/17 

 
Prepared By: Ryan Safty 
  Assistant Planner 

6.A

Packet Pg. 60



 

 

T1

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 61

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



T2

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 62

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



A1

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 63

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



A1.1

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 64

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

 

 

A1.2

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 65

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



A1.3

15
35

 S
E

A
B

R
IG

H
T

 A
V

E
N

U
E

 S
U

IT
E

 2
00

, S
A

N
T

A
 C

R
U

Z
, C

A
L

IF
O

R
N

IA
(8

31
)4

26
-8

40
0 

P
H

O
N

E
  (

83
1)

42
6-

84
46

 F
A

X

D
 E

 R
 E

 K
   

V
 A

 N
   

A
 L

 S
 T

 I
 N

 E

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 66

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



GARAGE 
-

20'-0" X 11'-1"

ENTRY
-

28'-7" X 8'-5"

A.D.U.
-

23'-3" X 14'-2"

BATHROOM 
-

8'-1" X 12'-0"

FAMILY
ROOM

-
19'-5" X 14'-3"

DINING
-

17'-5" X 11'-3"

KITCHEN
-

21'-9" X 10'-8"

MUD ROOM
-

7'-9" X 7'-6"

1/2 BATH
-

8'-1" X 3'-0"

A2

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 67

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



MASTER 
BEDROOM

-
18'-8" X 13'-1

MASTER 
BATH

-
9'-0" X 12'-8"

WALK-IN
CLOSET

-
9'-0" X 7'-3"

SITTING 
ROOM

-
13'-11" X 13'-0"

BATHROOM
-

6'-2" X 7'-3"

BEDROOM
-

14'-1" X 11'-1"

DECK
-

9'-7" X 18'-8"

A3

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 68

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



A4

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 69

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



A5

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 70

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



A6

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 71

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



A7

DVRD

ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEREK VAN ALSTINE

2017 COPYRIGHT

DESIGNER

ISSUE DESCRIPTION

INC.

APN:

036-14-405

PLANNING SUBMITTAL:

REVISIONS:

DESIGN DEVELOPMENT

BUILDING SUBMITTAL:

SCHEMATIC DESIGN

H
O

L
D

E
N

E
R

 R
E

S
ID

E
N

C
E

FEB. 09, 2017

MARCH 8, 2017

6.A.1

Packet Pg. 72

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ro
je

ct
 P

la
n

s 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



HARO, KASUNICH AND ASSOCIATES, INC.

CONSULTING GEOTECHNICAL & COASTAL ENGINEERS 

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

Project SC11043
3 October 2016

Timothy and Lani Holdener
C/O Derek Van Alstine Residential Design
1535 Seabright Ave., Suite 200
Santa Cruz, CA 95062

Subject: Coastal Bluff Recession Study and Geological Report 

Reference: 105 Sacramento Avenue
Capitola, California
Santa Cruz County APN 036-144-05

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Holdener:

Below is our Geologic Report including a Coastal Bluff Recession Study that we 
have completed at your request, for the property known as 105 Sacramento 
Avenue in Capitola, California.  We understand that you want to remodel the 
existing home or construct a new home on the property to replace the current 
home.

Summary:

We have evaluated the historical coastal bluff recession rates at 105 Sacramento 
Avenue in Capitola, California.  We also quantitatively evaluated the slope 
stability of the coastal bluff, including the influence of an earthquake that could 
cause recession. 

We obtained and reviewed historical vertical aerial photographs and satellite 
imagery from 1966 through 2016.  We also reviewed several sets of oblique 
angle aerial photographs from 1972 through 2015.  In addition we obtained a
survey of the property from 1884.  We visited the site and prepared a geologic 
cross section and made measurements from the seaward edge of the existing 
home out to the top edge of the coastal bluff.  From comparison of good quality 
aerial photography from June 1966 and January 1967 with a 2015 survey and 
Google Earth imagery from April 2016 it appears that the coastal bluff has 
receded toward the home approximately 42 feet in the last 50 years, which is a 
long term historical bluff recession rate of about 0.84 feet per year. From our 
comparison of the surveyed bluff edge position in 1884 compared to the current 
bluff edge position, it appears that the coastal bluff has receded toward the home 
approximately 106 feet since 1884, which is a long term historical bluff recession 
rate of about 0.81 feet per year. Accelerating future sea level rise rates may 

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 73

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 2

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

result in possible increased future recession rates (compared to average 
historical recession rates).

In our opinion, the best way to predict future bluff recession and evaluate coastal 
recession risk is to use long term historical average annual erosion rates as a 
minimum.  That would suggest that a minimum of 40.5 feet of bluff recession will 
occur at the subject property in the next 50 years.

Based on the analysis we have completed to date, we are unable to accurately 
predict how much future bluff recession rates will increase due to sea level rise.  
In order to allow for the possibility that future accelerating sea level rise will 
increase the long term average annual rate of recession, we recommend that the 
average annual historical recession rate be increased by 25 percent, in order to 
estimate an average annual future recession rate during the next 50 years.  That 
would suggest that 50.5 feet of recession will occur at the subject property in the 
next 100 years. Because of the shape of the accelerating curve, an average 
annual rate of approximately 1.2 feet per year is roughly estimated to occur in the 
50th year; an approximately 50% faster rate than occurs today.

At the subject property the home is about 89 feet from the bluff edge at the 
upcoast corner and is 78 feet from the bluff edge at the downcoast corner.  The 
downcoast corner of the home is at greater risk than the upcoast corner because 
of its lesser setback from the coastal bluff.  

In order to evaluate bluff stability, we performed additional work, including 
subsurface exploration, laboratory testing, and quantitative slope stability 
analysis.  That analysis indicated that at this property, a 1.25 to1.0 (H to V) 
gradient in the upper terrace deposits should be stable. The upper portion of the
bluff face (which is the upper 25 feet of the bluff) that has formed in the terrace 
deposits is presently standing at a 1 to1 (H:V) gradient, which is statically stable.

We have prepared drawings that show an Estimated 100 Year Future Coastal 
Bluff Recession Setback (two 11 by 17 sheets dated 12/7/2015 revised 9-26-
2016) that depict the setback in plan view and on three cross sections. The 
Setback was developed based on where a projected failure of the bluff face to a 
1.25 to 1.0 (H to V) stable gradient would come to, then an additional 40.5 feet of 
recession to account for 100 years of future coastal erosion at the historical rate 
that recession has occurred at since 1884, plus an additional 10 feet of recession 
to account for accelerating bluff recession resulting from accelerating sea level 
rise.  That 10 feet represents an average 25% acceleration in the historical 
recession rate at this site, and reflects an average annual recession rate in the 
50th year that is approximately 50% faster than the present rate of recession.

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 74

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 3

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

The selection of a "50 YEAR" timeframe is based on our understanding of the 
current minimum setback requirements in the City of Capitola Local Coastal Plan 
for permitting new development. We recommend the proposed development 
work is setback landward of the Estimated 50 Year Future Coastal Bluff 
Recession Setback ( as shown on two 11 by 17 sheets dated 12/7/2015 revised 
9-26-2016), which we believe is the distance necessary to provide a stable 
building site over a 50-year lifetime of the proposed structure. 

Analysis:

We completed the following tasks in our scope of services:

1) Obtained and reviewed selected vertical time sequential historical aerial 
photography and satellite imagery.
2) Obtained and reviewed time sequential oblique aerial photography from online 
sources. 
3) Obtained and reviewed a 1884 survey map that included the referenced 
property.
4) Prepared a sketch map of the current bluff-top conditions based on survey 
work by Hogan Land Services.
5) Prepared a geologic cross section from the existing home to the beach, using 
a topographic profile prepared by Hogan Land Services.
6) Observed coastal bluff geology and recent erosion and slope instability.
7) Prepared this report with accompanying graphics that gives the results of our                            

Study.

Historical Bluff Recession 

We obtained aerial photography of the site from 1966, 1967, 1976, 1978 and 2003;
and Google Earth satellite imagery from 2016. We scanned and enlarged each 
historical aerial photograph and then compared the position of the top edge of the 
coastal bluff on each historical aerial photo and the centerline of each nearby 
street as well as reference points on nearby homes in the vicinity of the subject 
property.  We then enlarged each photograph to be the same scale. 

We overlaid and made measurements from the historical vertical aerial 
photograph images and satellite imagery; in order to look at the historical 
changes in the bluff edge. The 1966 vertical aerial photograph and the 2016 
Google Earth image, which are included in Appendix A, appeared to be most 
useful for evaluation of historical bluff recession, and were relatively free of 
distortion and tree shadow coverage. From comparison of the vertical aerial 

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 75

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 4

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

photography taken in 1966 and Google Earth imagery taken in 2016 it appears 
that about 42 feet of bluff recession occurred in that time period which is a long 
term historical bluff recession rate of about 0.84 feet per year. 

We also obtained a subdivision map of "Camp Capitola”, that is dated 1884 and a 
partial copy is included in Appendix A.  This subdivision map shows the Capitola 
Depot Hill area, and most importantly for our purposes shows the top edge of the 
coastal bluff where it existed in 1884. By field measurements at the site and 
comparison with the 2015 topographic survey by Hogan Land Services, we 
compared the position of the top edge of the coastal bluff in 2015 relative to the 
position shown on the 1884 survey map. From our comparison of the surveyed 
bluff edge position in 1884 compared to the current bluff edge position, it appears 
that the coastal bluff has receded toward the home approximately 106 feet since 
1884, which is a long term historical bluff recession rate of about 0.81 feet per 
year. 

There is good correlation between the bluff recession rates measured from 1966 
to 2016 and 1884 to 2016.  We give more weight to the longer term 
measurement since it covers a greater period of time including more El Nino 
episodes and seismic events.

Measured at the worst case location at the site, the closest part of the existing 
house foundation is 79 feet from the top edge of the coastal bluff.

If historical long term average annual erosion rates from 1884 to 2015 were to 
continue into the future for 50 years at 0.81 feet per year, the top of the coastal 
bluff in 2066 would be 40.5 feet inland from where it is now. It is important to note 
that coastal bluff recession occurs episodically and not at a constant rate. It is 
more likely that 2 or 3 or 5 or even 10 feet of recession will happen at one time 
any given point on the coastal bluff, than a few inches per year each and every 
year will occur.

Sea Level has risen and the rate at which it is rising is accelerating.  In general, 
sea level rise tends to make future coastal bluff recession rates faster than 
measured historical coastal bluff recession rates.

Future Sea Level Rise

The State of California, through the California Ocean Protection Council agency, 
has adopted the following sea level rise projections using the year 2000 as a 
base line:

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 76

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 5

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

Sea Level Rise Amounts Adopted by the State of California (2011)
Year Average of Models Range of Models
2030 7 in (0.6 Feet) 5 to 8 inches
2050 14 in (1.2 Feet) 10 to 17 inches

2070
Low  23 inches 17 to 27 inches
Medium  24 inches (2.0 Feet) 18 to 29 inches
High  27 inches 20 to 32 inches

2100
Low  40 inches 31 to 50 inches
Medium  47 inches (4.0 Feet) 37 to 60 inches
High  55 inches 43 to 69 inches

The data adopted by the State of California indicates 40 to 55 inches of sea level 
rise should be planned for by 2100.  This equates to between 3.4 to 5.5 feet of 
sea level increase by 2100.  

The National Research Council prepared a 2012 report entitled Sea Level Rise 
for the Coasts of California, Oregon and Washington: Past, Present and Future. 
This report stated the following sea level rise projections for areas South of Cape 
Mendocino using the year 2000 as a base line:

Sea Level Rise Amounts from the National Research Council (2012)
Year Sea Level Rise

2050
Lower  Range  5 inches
Higher Range  24 inches

2100
Lower Range  16 inches
Higher Range  66 inches

Sea level rise will cause faster rates of bluff recession than have occurred 
historically.  The degree to which sea level rise will cause coastal bluff rates to 
increase is not agreed upon by all geologists.

Future bluff recession may occur at faster rates because the rate at which sea 
level is rising is accelerating.  Based on the analysis we have completed to date, 
we are unable to accurately predict how much future bluff recession rates will 
increase due to sea level rise.  Nobody really knows.  We modeled an 
acceleration in erosion rates below, with corresponding predictions of future 
cumulative recession.

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 77

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 6

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

Period     
Recession 

During 
Period

Average Annual 
Rate of 

Recession 
(FT/YR)

Period Length 
(YRS)

Recession 
During Period 

(FT)

Cumulative 
Recession at 
End of Period

(FT)

When
(Calendar 

Year)

Historical    0.81 131 106 NA Until Now

2016 thru 
2026 0.85 10 8.5 8.5

2026

2027 thru 
2036 0.9 10 9 17.5

2036

2037 thru 
2046 1.0 10 10 27.5

2046

2047 thru 
2056 1.1 10 11 38.5

2056

2057 thru 
2066 1.2 10 12 50.5

2066

We cannot predict if the degree of recession rate acceleration in the table above 
is what will actually occur in the future.  Assuming the stated recession rate 
acceleration actually occurs, then 50.5 feet of recession will occur in the next 50 
years.

Bluff Geology and Future Bluff Recession Discussion

The referenced property is situated just downcoast from the City of Capitola, in
northern Monterey Bay. 

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 78

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 7

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

Vicinity Map of 105 Sacramento Avenue

Topographic Map of 105 Sacramento Avenue

Photographs of the bluff face at the property are shown below:

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 79

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 8

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

2013 Oblique Aerial Photograph
The Property has the Single Story Home that is Left of the Center of the 

Photo
(photo courtesy of www.californiacoastline.org)

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 80

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 9

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

Bluff Face Overview
Property is in Right Half of Photo

A pile of bedrock boulders derived from bluff erosion consisting of a rockfall exists 
just upcoast (toward Santa Cruz) from the property.  Numerous other bedrock 
boulders are scattered across the beach, evidence of recent bluff erosion.

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 81

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 10

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

Bluff Face Looking Downcoast 
Showing Rockfall at Left (Not on Property)

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 82

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 11

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

Close Up View of Rockfall
Also Shows Bedrock Outcrop at Base of Bluff Just Upcoast

We note that there is a bedrock outcrop at the base of the bluff just upcoast of 
the property line that provides some protection from wave impact. The property is 
sheltered compared to properties that are more directly exposed to waves from 
all directions in Monterey Bay.  Because the coastal bluff at the property faces 
southeast, the bluff is somewhat protected from the largest and most powerful 
ocean waves that come from the northwest in the wintertime.

We prepared a geologic cross section from the ocean to the building site which 
depict the earth materials and topography on a topographic profile prepared by 
Hogan Land Services.  Basically it shows a level blufftop area, seaward to a bluff 
face about 25 feet high inclined downward at about 45 degrees then nearly 
vertically about 55 feet to a cobbly beach surface 20 feet wide sloping at about a 
25% gradient, then a sandy beach surface 60 feet wide sloping at 5 to 10%

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 83

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 12

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

gradient, then an exposed bedrock platform. The beach width varies significantly 
based on tidal conditions and ocean wave runup. The beach serves to protect 
the base of the bluff from ocean wave runup impact because the lower bluff is 
covered by beach sand. Based on other observations of this coastline we have 
made in the past when beach sand elevations were naturally lower, we believe 
that the beach sand deposit might now be about 6 feet thick at the base of the 
coastal bluff, as depicted on the attached geologic cross sections. Our geologic 
profile shows that the beach extends up to 6 feet above sea level (9 feet above 
the NAVD 88 vertical survey datum), where it meets the base of the coastal bluff 
face. 

No seacaves were observed at the base of the bluff.  Wave cut notches were not 
visible along the bluff fronting the property, but could be present and covered by 
beach sand. Talus from recent bluff erosion was observed just upcoast of the 
property.  A slump occurred a few years ago in the terrace deposits on the 
property just downcoast.  

Historical bluff recession at the property likely include one or more episodes of 
localized bluff failure resulting from coastal erosion that formed small caves or 
wave cut notches at the base of the bluff, which subsequently collapsed and 
caused landward recession of the bluff.

The property is sheltered within Monterey Bay compared to properties that are 
more directly exposed to the Pacific Ocean.  Because the coastal bluff at the 
property faces south, the bluff is somewhat protected from the largest and most 
powerful ocean waves that come from the northwest in the wintertime.

One form of bluff recession is caused by rainfall or wave splash or spray that 
erodes the bluff face.  Slope instability (landsliding) along the coastal bluff face is 
another form of the coastal erosion processes that results in landward recession 
of the top edge of the coastal bluff.  Coastal bluff landslides are caused either by 
undermining of the base of the bluff or from saturation of the bluff edge or bluff 
face. Because the upper part of the bluff is composed primarily of relatively weak 
sedimentary deposits (terrace deposits), the failure mechanism from landsliding 
is typically tabular or consists of very shallow, large radius, circular arc type 
failure. Field observations of the geology and geomorphology of the bluff suggest 
that terrace deposits in the bluff face are generally stable at a 1:1 (H:V) gradient 
under seismic conditions. A major earthquake occurred with the epicenter near 
the property in 1989. From comparison of oblique aerial photography of the bluff 
face prior to that earthquake compared to present day conditions, it does not 
appear that there was any significant instability caused by that earthquake’s 
seismic shaking. Under expected future seismic conditions, quantitative 

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 84

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 13

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

evaluation suggests the terrace deposits are probably stable at a 1.25:1 (H:V) 
gradient.  If a major earthquake occurred this year and caused the terrace 
deposits to fail to that gradient, the failure plane would reach about 18 feet 
landward of the existing bluff edge.

In our opinion, the best way to predict future bluff recession and evaluate coastal 
recession risk is to use long term historical average annual erosion rates as a 
minimum.  That would suggest that a minimum of 40.5 feet of recession will 
occur at the subject property in the next 100 years. In addition to those 
minimums, we recommend that the influence of rising sea level be considered, 
which would accelerate those rates.  

In order to allow for the possibility that future accelerating sea level rise will 
increase the long term average annual, rate of recession, we recommend that 
the average annual historical recession rate be increased by 25 percent, in order 
to estimate an average annual future recession rate during the next 100 years.  
That would suggest that 50.5 feet of recession will occur at the subject property 
in the next 100 years. Because of the shape of the accelerating curve, an 
average annual rate of approximately 1.2 feet per year is estimated to occur in 
the 50th year.

We note that our analysis considers the influence of both slope instability and 
coastal recession. It accounts for 50 years of recession that causes the bluff face 
to recede landward uniformly, then an episode of slope instability in the 50th year 
that flattens the bluff face to a 1.25 to 1 (H:V) gradient.  It is statistically unlikely 
that an episode of slope instability will occur exactly in the 50th year; this makes 
the analysis conservative.  The historical recession rates we calculated include 
the influence of both slope instability and coastal erosion.  This adds a degree of 
conservatism to the setback line we have presented, since it considers the 
influence of slope instability and coastal erosion in an additive manner.

We have prepared drawings that show an Estimated 100 Year Future Coastal 
Bluff Recession Setback (two 11 by 17 sheets dated 12/7/2015 revised 9-26-
2016) that depict the setback in plan view and on three cross sections. The 
Setback was developed based on where a projected failure of the bluff face to a
1.25 to 1.0 (H to V) stable gradient would come to, then an additional 40.5 feet of 
recession to account for 50 years of future coastal erosion at the historical rate 
that recession has occurred at since 1884, plus an additional 10 feet of recession 
to account for accelerating bluff recession resulting from accelerating sea level 
rise.  That 10 feet represents a 25% acceleration in the long term historical 
recession rate at this site, and reflects an average annual recession rate in the 
50th year that is approximately 50% faster than the present rate of recession.

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 85

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 14

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

We recommend the proposed new home be setback landward of the Estimated 
50 Year Future Coastal Bluff Recession Setback ( as shown on two 11 by 17 
sheets dated 12/7/2015 revised 9-26-2016), which we believe is the distance 
necessary to provide a stable building site over a 50-year lifetime of the proposed 
structure. 

We recommend that this report be reviewed in conjunction with the geotechnical 
report prepared by our firm for this property, and that the recommendations 
contained in that report also be complied with.

We also recommend that mitigating measures (i.e., landscaping and drainage 
control) be used and maintained to avoid increased erosion at the property.

Limitations

Because of uncertainties that are inherent in the analysis and are beyond the 
control of HKA, no guarantee or warranty is possible that future recession will 
occur at the rate predicted.  Greater or lesser erosion and recession may occur.  
In any case, damage to any improvements should be expected at some point in 
the future.  This study should not be used in lieu of appropriate insurance 
coverage. The owners and occupants of the coastal improvements shall accept 
the risk of that damage, and HKA recommends that they should purchase 
appropriate insurance to mitigate the inherent risk.

The selection of a "50 YEAR" timeframe is based on our understanding of the 
May 2016 minimum setback requirements in the City of Capitola Local Coastal 
Plan for permitting new development. Other Regulatory Agencies may desire or 
require greater setbacks now or in the future. Any user of this map should verify 
that 50 years is an adequate timeframe for evaluating bluff setbacks for whatever 
purpose they need to evaluate or consider setbacks for.

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 86

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.2

Packet Pg. 87

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 16

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX A

Portion of 1884 Survey Map of “Camp Capitola”
008M35

Also Map Book 2 Page 35

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 88

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 17

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX B

2016 Google Earth Image
April 5, 2016

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 89

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 18

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX C

June 14, 1966 Aerial Photograph

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 90

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 19

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX D

1972 Oblique Aerial Photo
(courtesy of californiacoastline.org)

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 91

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 20

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX E

1979 Oblique Aerial Photo
(courtesy of californiacoastline.org)

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 92

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 21

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX F

2002 Oblique Aerial Photo
(courtesy of californiacoastline.org)

March 16, 2002

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 93

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 22

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX G

2015 Oblique Aerial Photo
(courtesy of californiacoastline.org)

September 11, 2015

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 94

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Mr. and Mrs. Holdener
Project No. SC11043
105 Sacramento Avenue
3 October 2016
Page 23

116 EAST LAKE AVENUE  WATSONVILLE, CALIFORNIA 95076  (831) 722-4175  FAX (831) 722-3202 

APPENDIX H

Estimated 50 Year Future Coastal Bluff Recession Setback drawings
(two 11 by 17 sheets dated 12/7/2015, revised 9-26-2016)

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 95

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



HARO, KASUNICH AND ASSOCIATES, INC.

CONSULTING CIVIL, GEOTECHNICAL & COASTAL ENGINEERS

116 EAST LAKE AVE., WATSONVILLE, CA 95076  (831) 722-4175

SHEET 1:
ESTIMATED 50 YEAR

FUTURE COASTAL BLUFF
RECESSION SETBACK MAP

12/7/2015

105 Sacramento Avenue, Capitola, CA
Santa Cruz County APN 036-144-05

General Notes:

A. Topographic Base Map dated 11/08/2015 prepared by Michael R. Hogan, PLS 7362, Hogan Land
Services Job Number H0099.

B. Vertical Elevation Datum is NAVD88.
C. Topography at beach level may not accurately reflect actual terrain.
D. ESTIMATED 50 YEAR FUTURE COASTAL BLUFF RECESSION SETBACKS are for planning purposes.

The selection of a "50 YEAR" timeframe is based on our understanding of the December 2015 minimum
setback requirements in the City of Capitola Local Coastal Plan for permitting new development. Other
Regulatory Agencies may desire or require greater setbacks now or in the future. Any user of this map
should verify that 50 years is an adequate timeframe for evaluating bluff setbacks for whatever purpose
they need to evaluate or consider setbacks for.

E. LIMITATIONS: Because of uncertainties that are inherent in the analysis and are beyond the control of
HKA, no guarantee or warranty is possible that future recession will occur at the rate predicted.  Greater
or lesser erosion and recession may occur.  In any case, damage to improvements should be expected
at some point in the far future.  This study should not be used in lieu of appropriate insurance coverage.
The owners and occupants of the coastal improvements shall accept the risk of that damage, and HKA
recommends that they should purchase appropriate insurance to mitigate the inherent risk.

Revised 9-26-2016

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 96

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



SECTION A-A
SCALE: 1" = 10' H & V

1.25

1

MHTL

GRAND AVENUE

1.25:1 H:V
SLOPE STABILITY

SETBACK LINE

ESTIMATED 50 YEAR BLUFF
RECESSION SETBACK
BASED ON HISTORICAL
RATE SINCE 1884

ESTIMATED 50 YEAR BLUFF RECESSION SETBACK
INCLUDING ESTIMATED SEA LEVEL RISE INFLUENCE

(25% INCREASE IN HISTORICAL RECESSION RATE)

105 SACRAMENTO AVE
EXISTING HOME

B-2

B-1

HARO, KASUNICH AND ASSOCIATES, INC.

CONSULTING CIVIL, GEOTECHNICAL & COASTAL ENGINEERS

116 EAST LAKE AVE., WATSONVILLE, CA 95076  (831) 722-4175

SHEET 2:
ESTIMATED 50 YEAR

FUTURE COASTAL BLUFF
CROSS SECTION

12/7/2015

105 Sacramento Avenue, Capitola, CA
Santa Cruz County APN 036-144-05

General Notes:

A. Topographic Base Map dated 11/08/2015 prepared by Michael R. Hogan, PLS 7362, Hogan Land
Services Job Number H0099.

B. Vertical Elevation Datum is NAVD88.
C. Topography at beach level may not accurately reflect actual terrain.
D. ESTIMATED 50 YEAR FUTURE COASTAL BLUFF RECESSION SETBACKS are for planning purposes.

The selection of a "50 YEAR" timeframe is based on our understanding of the December 2015 minimum
setback requirements in the City of Capitola Local Coastal Plan for permitting new development. Other
Regulatory Agencies may desire or require greater setbacks now or in the future. Any user of this map
should verify that 50 years is an adequate timeframe for evaluating bluff setbacks for whatever purpose
they need to evaluate or consider setbacks for.

E. LIMITATIONS: Because of uncertainties that are inherent in the analysis and are beyond the control of
HKA, no guarantee or warranty is possible that future recession will occur at the rate predicted.  Greater
or lesser erosion and recession may occur.  In any case, damage to improvements should be expected
at some point in the far future.  This study should not be used in lieu of appropriate insurance coverage.
The owners and occupants of the coastal improvements shall accept the risk of that damage, and HKA
recommends that they should purchase appropriate insurance to mitigate the inherent risk.

Revised 9-26-2016

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 97

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



1

Safty, Ryan (rsafty@ci.capitola.ca.us)

From: foxxmark@aol.com
Sent: Monday, January 09, 2017 11:28 AM
To: Safty, Ryan (rsafty@ci.capitola.ca.us)
Subject: 105 Sacramento Ave.Project # 16-133

Hello Ryan, 

We performed a bluff recession analysis report for 105 Sacramento Avenue (our Project # SC11043) that analyzed 
coastal bluff recession for a fifty (50) year time period. The  results of that analysis are depicted on the drawings attached 
to our report. It has come to our attention that inadvertently reference was made in the report text to a 100 year coastal 
bluff recession timeframe due to a typographical error. 

The purpose of this email is to clarify that our analysis of coastal bluff recession was for a fifty (50) year time period (and
to apologize for the typographical error). 

Best Regards 

Mark Foxx 
CEG 1493 
Haro Kasunich and Associates Inc. 
831-234-7001 

6.A.2

Packet Pg. 98

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 G

eo
lo

g
ic

al
 R

ep
o

rt
  (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.3

Packet Pg. 99

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.3

Packet Pg. 100

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.3

Packet Pg. 101

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.3

Packet Pg. 102

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.3

Packet Pg. 103

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



6.A.3

Packet Pg. 104

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Recent Failure between Oakland and Hollister Avenues (directly upcoast from Sacramento Avenue)

6.A.3

Packet Pg. 105

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



Recent Failure at the end of Livermore Avenue (directly downcoast from Sacramento Avenue)

6.A.3

Packet Pg. 106

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 C

o
as

ta
l C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 L

et
te

r 
3/

30
/1

7 
 (

18
02

 :
 1

05
 S

ac
ra

m
en

to
 A

ve
n

u
e)



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 6, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Capitola Mall Redevelopment   
 
 
BACKGROUND   
During its March 2, 2017 hearing, the Planning Commission directed staff to explore options to 
encourage a coordinated and comprehensive mall redevelopment project.  The Capitola Mall 
property, bound by 41st Avenue to the east, Clares Street to the north and west, and Capitola 
Road to the south, involves multiple legal lots owned by several different property owners.  The 
Planning Commission expressed their desire to promote a coordinated planning effort between 
the City and various mall property owners to ensure redevelopment proceeded in a cohesive 
and harmonious manner consistent with the recently adopted General Plan.  
 
DISCUSSION 
In November 2016, the Planning Commission considered a conceptual review application to 
partition the existing Sears building into three tenant spaces to accommodate a new 
TJMaxx/Homegoods, Petco, and a smaller Sears.  The Commission expressed several 
concerns with the proposal and cited the lack of coordination with the Capitola Mall owners, 
Merlone Geier, as a principal shortcoming.  Representatives from Merlone Geier have stated 
their intention to initiate a public process for a mall redevelopment project sometime in 2017.  
The overarching concern of the Commission and staff is that a stand-alone Sears project may 
not complement a larger mall redevelopment project, which in-turn, could impede advancement 
of the City’s General Plan goals to positively and comprehensively transform the mall property.   
 
A formal application for the Sears project was submitted on February 10, 2017.  While the 
proposal addressed some of the Planning Commission’s design concerns, it did not include 
information to demonstrate that their project was coordinated or would be compatible with a 
larger mall redevelopment project.  The proposed project would also not advance General Plan 
goals to create a more pedestrian-friendly commercial district featuring new development and 
public amenities within the existing parking lots adjacent to 41st Avenue and Capitola Road. 
 
Options to Encourage Comprehensive Mall Redevelopment 
 
1. Initiate preparation of a Mall Redevelopment Specific Plan.  Under this option, the City could 

invite the various mall property owners to participate in a City led effort to develop a 
comprehensive specific plan which would include all parcels within the mall property.  A 
specific plan would serve to establish tailored development standards and design criteria to 

6.B

Packet Pg. 107



 
 

 

guide all future development on the mall property.  The success of such an effort would 
largely depend on cooperative participation by the various mall property owners.   

 
The benefit of initiating preparation of a specific plan is that it could streamline the permitting 
and environmental review process of a future mall redevelopment project.  However, it is 
anticipated that preparation of a specific plan would require more than a year to complete 
which may not align with redevelopment schedules of one or more mall property owners.  
Moreover, mall property owners who propose smaller redevelopment projects could 
conceivably proceed prior to completion of a specific plan. 
 
Funding for a City-initiated specific plan effort has not been identified, nor has such an effort 
been included in the Community Development Department work plan.  If the Planning 
Commission would like to pursue this option, staff will refer the matter to the City Council 
who would need to commit the financial and staffing resources necessary to prepare the 
specific plan. 

 
2. Create incentives for mall property owners to prepare a coordinated and comprehensive 

mall redevelopment plan.  The City could create incentives to encourage mall property 
owners to work together to prepare a cohesive redevelopment plan prior to initiating any 
significant projects.  Potential incentives could include expedited permit processing, reduced 
permit fees, and/or relaxed development standards.  Expedited permit processing and 
reduced permit fees could be authorized by the City Council without amending any adopted 
plans or ordinances; however, relaxed development standards would require the City 
Council to adopt amendments to the General Plan and/or the Zoning Code prior to taking 
effect. 
 

3. Declare a development moratorium to ensure a more cohesive approach to Mall 
redevelopment is pursued, that avoids a piecemeal planning approach.  The City Council 
could declare a development moratorium over all or part of the mall property until such time 
that a more comprehensive mall redevelopment plan has been submitted, prepared or 
adopted.  Under this option, development projects covered by the moratorium would be 
unable to proceed until a comprehensive mall redevelopment proposal is prepared.  Under 
state law, the City could impose a moratorium for a 45-day period with options to extend for 
a maximum of two years.  If the Planning Commission wished to pursue this option, staff 
would work with the City Attorney to prepare an urgency ordinance to enable to City Council 
to consider a moratorium declaration. 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION 
Considering the lack of funding and the unknown interest among mall property owners to 
participate in a City-initated specific planning effort, and the uncertain effectiveness of any 
incentive program given the currently pending application for the Sears site, staff recommends 
pursuing option three, the temporary development moritorium to avoid a piecemeal approach to 
mall redevelopment.  
 
 
 
Prepared By: Rich Grunow 
  Community Development Director 

6.B

Packet Pg. 108



 

 

 
 

S T A F F  R E P O R T  

 
TO:  PLANNING COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 
DATE: APRIL 6, 2017 
 
SUBJECT: Zoning Code Update  All Properties within Capitola 
 

Continuation of Comprehensive Update to the City of Capitola Zoning Code 
(Municipal Code Chapter 17).   
The Zoning Code serves as the Implementation Plan of the City’s Local Coastal 
Program and therefore must be certified by the Coastal Commission.   
Environmental Determination: Addendum to the General Plan Update EIR 
Property: The Zoning Code update affects all properties within the City of 
Capitola. 
Representative: Katie Cattan, Senior Planner, City of Capitola 

 
BACKGROUND: On January 9, 2017, an updated draft zoning code and zoning map were 
published that incorporate all edits received from the Planning Commission and City Council 
during 2016. The Planning Commission edits that were accepted by the City Council have been 
incorporated into the draft zoning code in black print.  The City Council recommended revisions 
are shown in red.   The draft code also includes revisions made by City staff to improve clarity 
and non-policy revisions requested by Coastal Commission staff.  Staff revisions are shown in 
blue.  The draft code, zoning map, and previous staff reports with attachments are available 
online at:  http://www.cityofcapitola.org/communitydevelopment/page/zoning-code-update.  
Hardcopies of the draft code are available to the public at City Hall and the Capitola Library.  
 
DISCUSSION:   The Planning Commission provided staff with additional edits to the zoning 
map and the Remaining Zoning Code Issues report during the February 2nd, February 16th, and 
March 2nd Planning Commission meetings.  All edits provided by the Planning Commission are 
listed in Attachment 1.   
 
During the March 6th meeting, the Planning Commission will provide direction on the six 
remaining items listed below:  
 
Item 1. Junior Accessory Dwelling Units (JADU)   
The state passed AB 2406 which create an additional housing option of junior accessory 
dwelling units (JADU).  Adoption of a JADU ordinance is not required by the state.  Some 
unique characteristics of JADUs are: 

a. May not exceed 500 square feet in size; 
b. Must be completely contained within the space of the existing residential structure; 
c. Must have internal and external access;   
d. May share a bathroom with the primary structure; 

6.C

Packet Pg. 109

http://www.cityofcapitola.org/communitydevelopment/page/zoning-code-update


 
 

 

e. Must have an efficiency kitchen (not a full kitchen); 
f. City cannot require additional parking;   
g. Utility providers cannot require water or sewer connection fees; and   
h. Count towards regional housing need allocation (RHNA) as a housing unit within the 

census definitions.   
 
A JADU ordinance is not proposed within the zoning code update because a JADU could be 
built as an Internal Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) within the draft code.  Efficiency kitchens are 
permitted in Capitola; therefore, a JADU is allowed within today’s code with the added 
requirement of external access.  If the Planning Commission would like to add JADUs to the 
code, staff suggests adding the following sentence to the Internal Accessory Dwelling Unit 
definition: “The term Internal Accessory Dwelling Unit includes Junior Accessory Dwelling Units 
as defined in Government Code Section 65852.22.”   
 
The minimum lot size for an Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) is 5,000 square feet.  During the 
March 2nd meeting, the Planning Commission discussed adding JADUs to the ordinance and 
allowing JADUs on properties with a minimum size of 4,000 square feet, and possibly down to 
3,200 square feet to accommodate them within neighborhoods like the Jewel Box.  The 
Planning Commission asked staff to provide a map with ranges of parcel size to assist in the 
recommendation (Attachment 3).  The following tables shows the number of properties for the 
R-1 and MU-N zones that exist within each range of lot sizes: 
 

Lot Size 
(square feet) 

# of Properties 

R-1 MU-N 

0 – 2,299 88 20 

2,300 – 3,199 268 6 

3,200 – 3,999 315 26 

4,000 – 4,999 272 17 

5,000 – 7,499 580 16 

7,500-9,999 153 9 

10,000 – 11,999 24 5 

12,000+ 46 19 

   
 
Item 2. Increased maximum size of ADU.  This item was introduced during the March 2nd 
meeting.  Within the new state legislation, the increased floor area of an ADU cannot exceed 
50% of the existing living area, up to a maximum of 1,200 square feet.  The draft code reflects 
this allowance as follows:  
 
Unit Size.  The maximum permitted floor area for an attached or detached accessory dwelling 
unit is as follows:  

1. Attached accessory dwelling units: 50 percent of the primary dwelling floor area, not to 
exceed 1,200 square feet 

2. Detached accessory dwelling units: 1,200 square feet. 
 
This is a large increase from Capitola’s current maximum that ranges from 500 to 800 square 
feet depending on lot size, as shown in the following table:  
 

Lot Size Maximum ADU Size 

Under 5,000 sf Not permitted 

5,000 sf to 7,500 sf 500 sf 

6.C

Packet Pg. 110



 
 

 

7,501 sf to 9,999 sf 640 sf 

10,000 sf plus 800 sf 
 

There is no change to the maximum floor area ratio of .60 for the combined maximum floor area 
of the primary residence and ADU.  The City can adopt maximum size standards that are more 
restrictive than SB 1069 provided these standards are not “designed or applied in a manner that 
burdens the development of ADUs and maximize the potential for ADU development.”  
 
Examples of other cities’ size limits in recent ADU updates:  
 

 Santa Cruz County (2017 update) 
 

o Inside Urban Service Area:  

Lot Size Maximum ADU Size 

Under zone district 
minimum size 

10% of net site area; 
or (for attached 
conversions) 50% of 
existing SFD, 
whichever is greater; 
up to a max of 640 sf 

Meets zone district 
minimum size 

640 sf 

 
o Outside Urban Service Area: 

Lot Size Maximum ADU Size 

Under 10,000 sf 640 sf 

10,000 sf to < 1 acre 800 sf 

1 acre plus 1,200 sf 

 
All conversions on parcels less than 5,000 sf are limited to up to 50% of the 
existing habitable sq. ft. of primary dwelling, not to exceed 640 sq. ft.  
 

 City of Santa Cruz (2017 Update) 
 

o Unit size - The floor area of an ADU shall not exceed 10 percent of the lot area 
up to a maximum of 1,200 sf. The floor area for accessory dwelling units 
attached to the principal single family dwelling shall not exceed fifty percent 
(50%) of the existing habitable floor area of the principal single family dwelling 
and not exceed the maximum ADU floor area allowed for the lot. 

 
Options for maximum size: 
 

Option 1: Draft Standard 
 

Unit Size.  The maximum permitted floor area for an attached or detached accessory 
dwelling unit is as follows:  

 
1. Attached accessory dwelling units: 50 percent of the primary dwelling floor area, not to 

exceed 1,200 square feet 
2. Detached accessory dwelling units: 1,200 square feet. 

 

6.C

Packet Pg. 111



 
 

 

Option 2: Keep Capitola’s existing standard. 
 
Unit Size.  The maximum permitted floor area for an attached or detached accessory 
dwelling unit is as follows:  

 

Lot Size Maximum ADU Size 

Under 5,000 sf Not permitted 

5,000 sf to 7,500 sf 500 sf 

7,501 sf to 9,999 sf 640 sf 

10,000 sf plus 800 sf 

 
      Option 3: Hybrid of Existing with additional allowance for very large lots: 
 

Unit Size.  The maximum permitted floor area for an attached or detached accessory 
dwelling unit is as follows:  

 
1. The floor area for an Attached ADU shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the existing 

habitable floor area of the principal single family dwelling and not exceed the maximum 
ADU floor area allowed for the lot. 

2. Maximum ADU floor area allowed for lot. 
 

Lot Size Maximum ADU Size 

Under 5,000 sf Not permitted 

5,000 sf to 7,500 sf 500 sf 

7,501 sf to 9,999 sf 640 sf 

10,000 sf to 11,999 sf 800 sf 

12,000 sf plus 1,200 sf 

 
Item 3. Fee Waivers for Affordable ADU 
Section 17.74.080.A of the draft code allows a fee waiver in exchange for deed restricting ADUs 
as affordable units rented exclusively to low or very low income households.  The deed 
restriction may be lifted “upon payment of fees in the amount previously waived as a result of 
affordability requirements, subject to an annual consumer price index increase commencing 
with the date of application for the building permit.”   
 
Commission Storey requested background on this standard.  This is an existing standard 
carried over into the draft code.  Staff researched the original ordinance and found one 
reference that the fee waiver originated from the City of Santa Cruz ordinance.  The City of 
Santa Cruz ordinance includes this incentive today for low income and very-low income rentals.  
The program allows owners to remove the restriction in the future with payment of the 
previously waived fees (Attachment 4).  The affordable rental deed restriction option is not 
required by state law and the City therefore has full discretion to retain, modify, or eliminate this 
provision. 
 
Item 4. Mobile Homes   
Commissioner Storey asked how mobile homes would be treated in Capitola’s ADU ordinance.  
Within the existing and draft ordinance, mobile homes are prohibited.  However, under 
California Government Code Section 65852.2 (as recently amended), the definition of 
“Accessory Dwelling Unit” includes manufactured homes.   
 

6.C

Packet Pg. 112



 
 

 

“Accessory Dwelling Unit” means “an attached or a detached residential dwelling unit 
which provides complete independent living facilities for one or more persons. It shall 
include permanent provisions for living, sleeping, eating, cooking, and sanitation on the 
same parcel as the single-family dwelling is situated.” An ADU also includes an 
efficiency unit (Health and Safety Code Section 17958.1) and a manufactured home 
(Health and Safety Code Section 18007). 

  
Since manufactured homes are included within the definition of the term “accessory dwelling 
units”, the City cannot prohibit manufactured homes as ADUs.  As drafted, the City has full 
discretion to regulate the design of an ADU within §17.74.050.I which states “Design. The 
design of the accessory dwelling unit shall complement the design of the primary residence by 
use of the similar exterior wall materials, window type, door and window trim, roofing materials, 
and roof pitch”. 
 
Item 5. Regional Commercial Purpose Statement  
The owners of the Capitola Mall, Merlone Geier, recently contacted staff and requested that the 
updated code include a clear statement that a future, major mall redevelopment project could be 
entitled through a separate planning process, including a possible specific plan, planned 
development, development agreement, or a rezone. Staff consequently revised the 
Commercial-Regional (C-R) purpose statement to clarify the expectations for future 
redevelopment projects, as follows:  

  
Section 17.24.030(E) Capitola Mall Redevelopment.  While the Capitola Mall site has 
been zoned Regional Commercial (C-R) as part of the Zoning Code Update, it is 
expected that major redevelopment of the mall property will require a Rezone, Planned 
Development, Specific Plan, Development Agreement, or similar process to tailor 
appropriate development standards for the redevelopment project.  Where an application 
submitted pursuant to this section includes fewer than all parcels within the Mall 
property, the applicant shall demonstrate that the development type and pattern and site 
design will be compatible and not unreasonably interfere with future redevelopment of 
the remaining parcels.  For the purposes of this section, the mall property is defined as 
the area bound by 41st Avenue, Clares Street, and Capitola Road. 

  
Item 6. Sidewalk Sign Ordinance  
Several key design elements are unclear within existing and proposed Village Sidewalk Sign 
regulations, including materials, shape, area of sign face, and height of sign face.  Staff has 
revised the proposed ordinance to add the specific design details of the BIA sign standards:    
 
1. Sign face shall be made of quality materials such as solid wood, metal, or similar durable and 
weatherproof materials.  
2. Pole shall be a cast iron pole. 
3. Base shall be cast iron and round shape (shown in image). 
4. Max height of the sign face of 30 inches. 
5. Maximum sign area 3.75 sf. 
 
The shape of the BIA design is unique with a curved line at the top and bottom.  The current 
draft code allows variation from the BIA shape with an oval included as acceptable.  Staff is 
requesting discussion and direction on the allowable shape for Village Sidewalk Signs.  Should 
additional shapes be considered, and if so, should the code specify the acceptable shapes?  Or, 
should all sidewalk signs match the shape of the BIA design?    
 

6.C

Packet Pg. 113



 
 

 

The sidewalk sign ordinance has been updated to include the items listed above in 1 – 5.  It was 
also reorganized to group similar standards such as placement, number of sings, materials and 
designs, etc. for ease of use.  The updated sidewalk ordinance is included as Attachment 5. The 
BIA approved sign is included as Attachment 6.  
 
CEQA: An Addendum to the General Plan Update Environmental Impact Report (EIR) has been 
prepared and will be included in the packet during final recommendation to City Council. 
 
RECOMMENDATION:  Accept the staff presentation, provide direction on the 6 remaining 
items, and recommend that the City Council review the draft then initiate a 60 day public review.   
 
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

1. Planning Commission edits to January 2017 draft 
2. Draft Chapter 17.74 Accessory Dwelling Units.pdf 
3. Parcel Size by Zone 
4. Santa Cruz ADU fee waiver 
5. Sidewalk Sign Ordinance 
6. BIA Sidewalk Sign 
7. Heintz Public Input on Zoning Map 
8. Zoning Map 

 
Prepared By: Katie Herlihy 
  Senior Planner 

6.C

Packet Pg. 114



Planning Commission Requested Modifications

Section Page Change

February 2, 2017

Zoning Map Map 502 Beulah – include in Vacation Rental overlay

Zoning Map Map & 
17.40.030

Vacation Rental Use (VR) and Village Residential (VR) are same acronyms.  The code removed the term 
“use” after Vacation Rental.  Keep “use” in chapter 17.40.030. 

Zoning Map Map 718 Capitola Avenue zoned MUN should extend all the way back to the hotel property behind it

Zoning Map Map Shadow Brook Property and parking lot should be MU-N not CC

Zoning Map Map Remove Vacation Rental that is located over the water.  Only place Vacation Rental overlay on inset map, 
removed from primary zoning map.  Too cluttered.

Zoning map Map Stockton creek should be blue with the sliver of open space by the bridge where there is a small City park. 

Environmentally 
Sensitive Areas 
Map

Map Hire consultant to review Environmentally Sensitive Areas Map to ensure accuracy of boundary

February 16, 2017

17.20.030 20-5 Replace with:
1. Up to 33 feet for a gabled or hipped roof with a minimum 5:12 roof pitch and a maximum plate 

height of 26 feet.  There shall be no breaks in the roof slope for doors and decks. 
2. Projections for non-habitable decorative features and structures as allowed by Section 17.48.020.C.

Include image of allowable pitched roof designs.  

17.48.020.B 48-2 Reword:
“These exceptions may not be combined with other height exceptions, including but not limited to, 
allowances for additional height in the MU-V zone or for historic structures.”

17.24.020
Table 17.24-1

24-2 Revise:
Multi-Family Dwellings in the C-R require CUP
Residential Mixed Use.  Delete note #7 which states “Residential uses are prohibited on the first story.” 

Table 17.24-2 24-4 Revise:
Require Conditional Use Permit in C-R for Ground floor, less than 5,000 square feet
Require Conditional Use Permit in C-R for Ground floor, 5,000 square feet or more. 
Permit in C-R located within a multi-tenant site in which the office space is not located within a storefront 
and is setback from the front façade.

Coastal 
Commission Edits

Throughout
Code

Change references of Local Coastal Act to Local Coastal Plan

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 115

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 e

d
it

s 
to

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

17
 d

ra
ft

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



Planning Commission Requested Modifications

Section Page Change

17.48.030 C and D 17.48.030 
C and D

Incorporate staff suggestions on modifications to setbacks presented to PC, except

• Landscape features – 17.48.030.E.10 – change to “Decorative ornamental features up to a 
maximum height of 6 feet which does not enclose the perimeter of the property” and change 
minimum distance from Property line to “No Minimum”

• Hot Tubs – Min distance from property line – Change Rear to 2 feet.

• Under other structures and equipment, remove trash enclosure from moveable objects list

Accessory Dwelling 
Units

Accessory Dwelling Units that utilize the decreased setbacks and increased FAR cannot remove the ADU 
and enjoy the benefits of creating a non-conformity.  Add to deed restrictions.

Table 17.92-1 Page 92-6 • Reword “repair” in third category “exterior repairs and modifications that alter or affect the 
nonconforming aspect of the structure”    Should be demolish and rebuild?  Update example to 
demolish and rebuild .

• Last category “recreation of an involuntarily damaged or destroyed structure” add a reference to 
19.92.080.D

17.36.060.H.7 Page 36-6 Add “supply and” to new or enlarged business that increases the supply and/or diversity of jobs available”

Correct typo - jobs “in” industries

17.40.020.J Page 40-6 Change to “for 55 years or the natural life of the unit whichever is greater”

17.76.070.D.2 Page 76-19 Change back to 24 inch box tree for tree health.

17.80.090.A.6 Page 80-17 Prohibit Internally illuminated signs in the mixed-use neighborhood.  

17.80.100.A Page 80-17 Remove General Standards. Keep section B for multi-unit properties. 

17.80.080.A Page 80-9 Maximum Area of Auto Dealership sign – require that Planning Commission review above 100 square feet 
but remove the maximum.

17.80.110
Table 17.80-10

Auto 
Dealership

Change Maximum Duration to year-round.  Add that they have to be maintained in good condition.

17.92.070.B.2.d 92-3 Remove d “the extension will not impair coastal resources”

5000 sf auto space Check with TESLA that 5,000 sf would support auto showroom

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 116

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 e

d
it

s 
to

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

17
 d

ra
ft

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



Planning Commission Requested Modifications

Section Page Change

March 2, 2017 

17.74.040 Page 74-7 Deed restrict must include occupancy standard of 17.74.040.C – the property owner must occupy either the 
primary or accessory dwelling. 

Additional requested edits

Figure 17.24-3 Page 24-9 Remove 65% minimum from figure.

17.36.080.D.3 Page 36-3 Change engineers to engineer

17.44.030 Page 44-2 Coastal Bluff definition change to “overlooking coastal water” 

17.44.030.F Page 44-4 Remove first sentence “Any area in which … developments.”

17.44.150.B.6.a 
AND b

Page 44-2 Change to Local Coastal Plan

Glossary 17.74 Part 3 
Glossary

Replace Secondary with Accessory

17.52.030.B.4 52-4 Reword “machines require a Conditional Use permit…”

17.64. 64-1 and 
64-4

The title of 17.64.050 should be rearranged say “Monarch Butterfly Habitat – Rispin-Soquel Creek and 
Escalona Gulch”  Make change is three places.  Sections (pg 64-1),   Applicability (pg 64-1), and 17.64.050 
title (pg 64-4)

17.64.040 64-4 No new development is permitted within the banks riparian corridor along Soquel Creek and Lagoon, 
except……

17.74.030.A.1.b 74-2 Typo.  Change n to an

17.74.030.A.2. 74-2 Add approval of a Design Permit “and Conditional Use Permit”.  

17.76.040.B.2.b 
AND c

76-8 In b and c, the reference should remove the zero before the 2.  Section 17.020.

6.C.1

Packet Pg. 117

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

la
n

n
in

g
 C

o
m

m
is

si
o

n
 e

d
it

s 
to

 J
an

u
ar

y 
20

17
 d

ra
ft

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 17.74 

74-1 

Chapter 17.74 –  ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 

Sections:  

17.74.010 Purpose 

17.74.020 Definitions 

17.74.030 Required Permits 

17.74.040 Permitted Location 

17.74.050 Standards for All Accessory Dwelling Units 

17.74.060 Standards for Attached and Detached Accessory Dwelling Units 

17.74.070 Findings 

17.74.080 Deed Restrictions 

17.74.090 Incentives 

 

Note: This chapter has been significantly revised to comply with changes to state law adopted 
by the California Legislature in 2016 concerning local regulation of accessory dwelling units (SB 
1069 and AB 2406). Revisions to Capitola's existing accessory dwelling unit regulations required 
by state law include reducing parking requirements, allowing by right accessory dwelling units 
contained within the existing space of a home, establishing time limits for the City to act on 
applications, limiting utility connection requirements, increasing maximum size, and reducing 
setback requirements. 

17.74.010 Purpose 

This chapter establishes standards for the location and construction of accessory dwelling 

units consistent with Government Code Section 65852.2.  These standards are intended to 

allow accessory dwelling units as a form of affordable housing in Capitola while maintaining 

the character and quality of life of residential neighborhoods.  

17.74.020 Definitions 

Terms used in this chapter are defined as follows: 

A. Accessory Dwelling Unit. “Accessory dwelling unit” means a self-contained living unit 

located on the same parcel as a primary single-family residence with exterior access to the 

accessory dwelling unit provided independent from the primary single-family residence. 

B. Attached Accessory Dwelling Unit. “Attached accessory dwelling unit” means an 

accessory dwelling unit that: 

1. Shares at least one common wall with the primary single-family residence; 

2. Is not fully contained within the existing space of the primary single-family residence 

or an accessory structure; and  

3. Provides exterior access independent from the primary single-family residence.  

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 118

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



17.74 ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 

74-2 

C. Detached Accessory Dwelling Unit. “Detached accessory dwelling unit” means an 

accessory dwelling unit that does not share a common wall with the primary single-family 

residence.   

D. Internal Accessory Dwelling Unit. “Internal accessory dwelling unit” means an 

accessory dwelling unit that: 

1. Is fully contained within the existing space of the primary single-family residence or 

an accessory structure; and  

2. Provides exterior access independent from the primary single-family residence.  

E. Two-story Attached Accessory Dwelling Unit. “Two-story attached accessory 

dwelling unit” means an attached accessory dwelling unit that is configured as either two 

stories of living space attached to the primary single-family residence or located on the 

second story above the ground floor of the primary single-family residence.  

F. Two-story Detached Accessory Dwelling Unit. “Two-story detached accessory 

dwelling unit” means a detached accessory dwelling unit that is configured as either two 

stories of living space as part of a single accessory dwelling unit or second story living 

space above a ground floor garage or other accessory structure.   

17.74.030 Required Permits 

A. Internal Accessory Dwelling Units. 

1. Administrative Permit. An internal accessory dwelling unit is allowed with an 

Administrative Permit if: 

a. The proposed unit complies with Section 17.74.040 (Standards for All 

Accessory Dwelling Units); and 

b. The proposed unit is contained within n existing primary single-family residence 

or accessory structure that complies with the minimum side and rear setback 

requirements of the applicable zoning district. 

2. Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit. The Planning Commission may 

allow an internal accessory dwelling unit located within an existing primary single-

family residence or accessory structure that does not comply with the minimum side 

and rear setback requirements of the applicable zoning district with the approval of 

a Design Permit. 

B. Attached and Detached Accessory Dwelling Units. 

1. Administrative Permit.  Attached and detached accessory dwelling units consistent 

with Section 17.74.040 (Standards for All Accessory Dwelling Units) and Section 

17.74.050 (Standards for Attached and Detached Accessory Dwelling Units) are 

allowed with an Administrative Permit. 

2. Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit. 

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 119

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 17.74 

74-3 

a. The Planning Commission may approve an attached or detached accessory 

dwelling units that deviates from the standards in Subsections C (Unit Size) 

through J (Open Space and Landscaping) of Section 17.74.050 (Standards – 

Attached and Detached Accessory Dwelling Units) with the approval of a 

Design Permit and a Conditional Use Permit. 

b. All two-story attached and detached accessory dwelling units require Planning 

Commission approval of a Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit. 

C. Conditional Use Permit Findings. To approve a Conditional Use Permit for an 

accessory dwelling unit, the Planning Commission must make all of the findings in Section 

17.74.050 (Findings). 

D. Time Limit to Act. The City shall complete its review of an accessory dwelling unit 

application requiring an Administrative Permit and approve or deny the application within 

120 days after receiving an application. 

17.74.040 Standards for All Accessory Dwelling Units 

The following standards apply to all types of accessory dwelling units, including attached, 

detached, and internal accessory dwelling units. 

A. Compliance with Zoning District Standards. An accessory dwelling unit shall comply 

with all requirements of the applicable zoning district except as modified in this chapter. 

B. One Primary Residence on Parcel. An accessory dwelling unit is permitted only when 

not more than one primary single-family dwelling is present on a parcel or is constructed 

concurrently with the accessory dwelling unit.  

C. Occupancy. The property owner must occupy either the primary or accessory dwelling. 

The Planning Commission may grant an exception to this requirement in the case of 

unique hardship with the approval of a Conditional Use Permit. 

D. Maximum Number per Parcel. Only one accessory dwelling unit is allowed on a single 

parcel. 

E. Parking. 

1. Internal Accessory Dwelling Units. Off-street parking in addition to any off-street 

parking required for the primary residence is not required for an internal accessory 

dwelling unit. 

2. Attached and Detached Accessory Dwelling Units.  

a. Except as provided in Paragraph (c) below, one off-street parking space shall be 

provided for an attached or detached accessory dwelling unit in addition to any 

off-street parking required for the primary residence.   

b. Required off-street parking may be provided as tandem parking on an existing 

driveway and may be located within minimum required setback areas from front, 

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 120

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)

http://www.codepublishing.com/CA/Capitola/cgi/defs.pl?def=17.03.190


17.74 ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 

74-4 

side, and rear property lines on the parcel in accordance with Section 

17.76.040.B (Parking in Front and Exterior Side Setback Areas). 

c. No off-street parking is required for an attached or detached accessory dwelling 

unit in the following cases: 

(1) The accessory dwelling unit is located within one-half mile of a bus transit 

stop with a frequency of service interval of 15 minutes or less during the 

morning and afternoon peak commute periods. 

(2) The accessory dwelling unit is located within a National Register Historic 

District or other historic district officially designated by the City Council. 

(3) When on-street parking permits are required but not offered to the 

occupant of the accessory dwelling unit. 

(4) When there is a car share vehicle pick-up/drop-off location within one 

block of the accessory dwelling unit. 

F. Utility Connections. 

1. General. An accessory dwelling unit shall not be considered a new residential use 

for the purposes of calculating local agency connection fees or capacity charges for 

utilities, including water and sewer service. 

2. Internal Accessory Dwelling Units. The City shall not require an applicant to 

install a new or separate utility connection directly between an internal accessory 

dwelling unit and the utility or impose a related connection fee or capacity charge. 

3. Attached and Detached Accessory Dwelling Units.  

a. The City may require a new or separate utility connection directly between an 

attached or detached accessory dwelling unit and the utility. 

b. Consistent with Government Code Section 66013, the connection may be 

subject to a connection fee or capacity charge that shall be proportionate to the 

burden of the proposed accessory dwelling unit, based upon either its size or 

the number of its plumbing fixtures, upon the water or sewer system. This fee 

or charge shall not exceed the reasonable cost of providing this service. 

4. Fire Sprinklers. The City shall not require accessory dwelling units to provide fire 

sprinklers if they would not be required for the primary residence under the current 

Fire Code. 

17.74.050 Standards for Attached and Detached Accessory Dwelling Units 

The following standards apply to attached and detached accessory dwelling units.  

A. Permitted Location. Attached and detached accessory dwelling units are permitted only 

in: 

1. The Single-Family Residential (R-1) zoning district; and 

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 121

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 17.74 

74-5 

2. The Multi-Family Residential (RM) and Neighborhood Mixed Use (MU-N) zoning 

districts on lot of 5,000 square feet or more occupied by one single-family dwelling. 

B. Minimum Lot Size.  An attached or detached accessory dwelling unit is permitted only 

on parcels 5,000 square feet or greater. 

C. Unit Size. The maximum permitted floor area for an attached or detached accessory 

dwelling unit is as follows: 

1. Attached accessory dwelling units: 50 percent of the primary dwelling floor area, not 

to exceed 1,200 square feet. 

2. Detached accessory dwelling units: 1,200 square feet. 

D. Maximum Floor Area Ratio.  The combined floor area ratio (FAR) of a lot with a 

primary residence and an attached or detached accessory dwelling unit shall not exceed 

0.60. 

E. Height and Setback Standards. 

1.  Height and setbacks standards for attached and detached accessory dwelling units 

are shown in Table 17.74-2. 

2. The Planning Commission may allow a detached accessory dwelling unit to exceed 

the height limits in Table 17.74-2 to accommodate a roof design that matches special 

roof features of the primary residence.  Such a height exception requires Planning 

Commission approval of a Design Permit and a Conditional Use Permit. 

TABLE 17.74-2: ACCESSORY DWELLING UNIT SETBACK AND HEIGHT STANDARDS 

 Type of Accessory Dwelling Unit 

Detached Attached 

Setbacks, Minimum [2]   

Interior Side 5 ft. Same as required for primary 

residence 

Exterior Side Same as required for primary 

residence 

Rear One story unit: 8 ft. [3] 

Two story unit: 10 ft. [3] 

Front Same as required for primary 

residence 

Height, Maximum   

 One story One story unit: 15 ft. [1] 

Two story unit: 22 ft. 

Height of primary residence or 

maximum permitted in zoning 

district, whichever is less 

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 122

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



17.74 ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 

74-6 

Notes: 

[1] Maximum height of 12 feet when accessory dwelling unit is 10 feet or less from property line. 

[2] No setback is required for an existing garage that is converted to an accessory dwelling unit. 

[3] Minimum 5-foot setback for accessory dwelling units constructed above a garage. 

F. Two-Story Accessory Dwelling Units. All two-story accessory dwelling units require 

Planning Commission approval of a Design Permit and Conditional Use Permit. 

G. Doors and Windows. 

1. The entrance to a detached accessory dwelling unit shall face the interior of the parcel 

unless the accessory dwelling unit is directly accessible from an alley or a public street. 

2. Openings (e.g., doors and windows) on exterior walls that are closest to and face 

adjacent residentially-zoned properties shall be designed to minimize privacy impacts 

and maintain access to light and ventilation on adjacent properties. 

H. Orientation.  

1. The accessory dwelling unit generally limits the major access stairs, decks, entry 

doors, and major windows to the walls facing the primary residence, or to the alley 

if applicable. Windows that impact the privacy of the neighboring side or rear yard 

shall be minimized.  

2. Parking accessed from an alley shall maintain a 24-foot back-out area, which may 

include the alley.  

I. Design. The design of the accessory dwelling unit shall complement the design of the 

primary residence by use of the similar exterior wall materials, window types, door and 

window trims, roofing materials and roof pitch. 

J. Open Space and Landscaping. Open space and landscaping shall be provided that is 

usable for both the accessory dwelling unit and the primary residence. Landscaping 

maintain privacy and provide screening for adjacent properties. 

K. Mobile Units. Vehicles and trailers of any kind, with or without wheels, are prohibited 

as accessory dwelling units. 

17.74.060 Findings  

To approve a Conditional Use Permit for an accessory dwelling unit, the Planning Commission 

shall find that: 

A. The exterior design of the accessory dwelling unit is compatible with the existing 

residence on the lot through architectural use of building forms, height, construction 

materials, colors, landscaping, and other methods that conform to acceptable 

construction practices. 

B. The exterior design is in harmony with, and maintains the scale of, the neighborhood. 

C. The accessory dwelling unit will not create excessive noise, traffic, or parking congestion. 

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 123

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 17.74 

74-7 

D. The accessory dwelling unit has or will have access to adequate water sewer service as 

determined by the applicable service provider. 

E. Adequate open space and landscaping has been provided that is usable for both the 

accessory dwelling unit and the primary residence. Open space and landscaping provides 

for privacy and screening of adjacent properties. 

F. The location and design of the accessory dwelling unit maintains a compatible relationship 

to adjacent properties and does not significantly impact the privacy, light, air, solar access, 

or parking of adjacent properties. 

G. The accessory dwelling unit generally limits the major access stairs, decks, entry doors, 

and major windows to the walls facing the primary residence, or to the alley if applicable. 

Windows that impact the privacy of the neighboring side or rear yard have been 

minimized. The design of the accessory dwelling unit complements the design of the 

primary residence and does not visually dominate it or the surrounding properties. 

H. The site plan is consistent with physical development policies of the General Plan, any 

area plan or specific plan, or other City policy for physical development. If located in the 

coastal zone, the site plan is consistent with policies of the Local Coastal Plan. 

I. The project would not impair public views along the ocean and of scenic coastal areas. 

Where appropriate and feasible, the site plan restores and enhances the visual quality of 

visually degraded areas.  

17.74.070 Deed Restrictions 

A. Before obtaining a building permit for an accessory dwelling unit, the property owner 

shall file with the County Recorder a declaration of restrictions containing a reference to 

the deed under which the property was acquired by the current owner.  The deed 

restriction shall state that: 

1. The accessory dwelling unit may not be sold separately. 

2. The accessory dwelling unit is restricted to the approved size. 

B. The above declarations are binding upon any successor in ownership of the property. 

Lack of compliance shall be cause for code enforcement and/or revoking the City’s 

approval of the accessory dwelling unit. 

C. The deed restriction shall lapse upon removal of the accessory dwelling unit. 

17.74.080 Incentives 

A. Fee Waivers for Affordable Units. 

1. The City may waive development fees for accessory dwelling units that will be rented 

at levels affordable to low or very low income households. 

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 124

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



17.74 ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS 

74-8 

2. Applicants of affordable accessory dwelling units shall record a deed restriction 

limiting the rent to low or very low-income levels prior to issuance of a building 

permit. 

3. Landlords of accessory dwelling units shall be relieved of any affordability condition 

upon payment of fees in the amount previously waived as a result of affordability 

requirements, subject to an annual consumer price index increase commencing with 

the date of application for building permit. 

B. Historic Properties. The Planning Commission may allow exceptions to design and 

development standards for accessory dwelling units proposed on a propriety that contains 

a Historic Resource as defined in Chapter 17.84 (Historic Preservation).  To allow such 

an exception, the Planning Commission shall approve a Conditional Use Permit and find 

that the exception is necessary to preserve the architectural character of the primary 

residence. 

 

 

6.C.2

Packet Pg. 125

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 D

ra
ft

 C
h

ap
te

r 
17

.7
4 

A
cc

es
so

ry
 D

w
el

lin
g

 U
n

it
s.

p
d

f 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



Esri, HERE, DeLorme, MapmyIndia, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community

Single Family Residential Parcels ±

0 0.25 0.5 0.75 10.125
Miles

AREA
7 - 2299 (88)
2300 - 3199 (268)
3200 - 3999 (315)
4000 - 4999 (272)
5000 - 7499 (580)
7500 - 9999 (153)
10000 - 11999 (24)
12000 - 218781 (46)

Parcel Size - sq. ft.

6.C.3

Packet Pg. 126

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ar
ce

l S
iz

e 
b

y 
Z

o
n

e 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



Esri, HERE, DeLorme, MapmyIndia, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS user community

Neighborhood Mixed Use Parcels ±

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000250
Feet

AREA
849 - 2299 (20)
2300 - 3199 (6)
3200 - 3999 (26)
4000 - 4999 (17)
5000 - 7499 (16)
7500 - 9999 (9)
10000 - 11999 (5)
12000 - 59435 (19)

Parcel Size - sq. ft.

6.C.3

Packet Pg. 127

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 P

ar
ce

l S
iz

e 
b

y 
Z

o
n

e 
 (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 128

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
A

D
U

 f
ee

 w
ai

ve
r 

 (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 129

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
A

D
U

 f
ee

 w
ai

ve
r 

 (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 130

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
A

D
U

 f
ee

 w
ai

ve
r 

 (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 131

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
A

D
U

 f
ee

 w
ai

ve
r 

 (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



6.C.4

Packet Pg. 132

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

an
ta

 C
ru

z 
A

D
U

 f
ee

 w
ai

ve
r 

 (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-1 

Chapter 17.80 –  SIGNS 

 

Sections: 

17.80.010 Purpose and Applicability 

17.80.020 Definitions 

17.80.030 Permit Requirements 

17.80.040 Rules of Measurement 

17.80.050 Signs Allowed Without Permits 

17.80.060 Prohibited Signs 

17.80.070 General Sign Standards 

17.80.080 Standards for Specific Types of Signs 

17.80.090 Design Standards 

17.80.100 Residential Signs 

17.80.110 Temporary Signs 

17.80.120 Adjustment to Sign Standards 

17.80.130 Master Sign Program 

17.80.140 Nonconforming Signs 

17.80.150 Violations and Enforcement 

 

17.80.010 Purpose and Applicability  

A. Purpose. This chapter establishes standards relating to the permitted type, size, height, 

placement, number, and design of signs.  The intent of these standards is to: 

1. Support economically viable businesses serving city residents, workers, and visitors. 

2. Allow for signage that identifies businesses in a fair and equitable manner. 

3. Protect and enhance the aesthetic qualities of the city. 

4. Minimize hazards to motorists and pedestrians resulting from excessive, confusing, and 

distracting signs. 

5. Allow for a simple and streamlined sign permitting process. 

B. Applicability. This chapter applies to all signs in Capitola, except for City-installed signs and 

signs required by a governmental agency to carry out its responsibility to protect the public health, 

safety, and general welfare. 

17.80.020 Definitions 

The following definitions apply to this chapter: 

A. Awning Sign.  A sign incorporated into, attached, or painted on an awning. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 133

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-2 

B. Awning Face Sign. A sign located on the sloping plane face of an awning. 

C. Awning Valance Sign. A sign located on the valance of an awning perpendicular to the ground. 

D. Center Identification Sign.  A sign identifying the name of a shopping center and that does 

not include the name of any business within the center.  A shopping center is a commercial 

building or group of buildings operated as a unit on a single parcel, sharing common parking 

areas or commonly owned adjacent parcels. 

E. Construction Site Sign. An on-premise sign for an approved construction project that publicizes 

the future building and occupants as well as the architects, engineers and construction 

organizations involved in the project.  

F. Directory Sign. An on-premise sign which shows the direction to or location of a customer 

entrance to a business. 

G. Flags.  Fabric, textile, or material with colors and/or patterns which display a symbol of a nation, 

state, company, or idea.  

H. Monument Sign.  An independent, freestanding structure supported on the ground as opposed 

to being supported on the building. 

I. Projecting Sign.  Any sign permanently attached to a building or wall such that the sign face or 

faces are perpendicular to the building or wall. 

J. Roof Sign.  Any sign that is mounted on a roof or a parapet, of a building.   

K. Sidewalk Sign. Movable or permanent business identification signs placed in or attached to a 

public sidewalk. 

L. Sign.  Any device, fixture, placard or structure that uses any color, form, graphic, illumination, 

symbol or writing to advertise or announce the purpose of a business or entity, or to communicate 

information of any kind to the public. 

M. Sign Area.  See Section 17.80.040.A (Calculation of Sign Area). 

N. Sign Copy.  The area of a sign occupied by letters, numbers, graphics, or other content intended 

to inform, direct, or otherwise transmit information. 

O. Sign Face.  The area of a sign where sign copy is placed. 

P. Wall Sign.  A sign which is attached to or painted on the exterior wall of a structure with the 

display surface of the sign approximately parallel to the building wall. 

Q. Window Sign.  A sign posted, painted, placed, or affixed in or on a window exposed to public 

view or within one foot and parallel to a window exposed to public view. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 134

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-3 

17.80.030 Permit Requirements 

Note: This sections allows most signs to be approved by the Community Development Director through 
an Administrative Sign Permit.  The existing Zoning Code requires Planning Commission approval for 
most signs    

A. Administrative Sign Permits.  An Administrative Sign Permit (Chapter 17.132) is required to 

install, construct, or enlarge a sign, except for: 

1. Signs exempt from the permit requirements of this chapter as specified in Section 17.80.050 

(Signs Allowed without Permits). 

2. Signs requiring a Sign Permit as identified in Section B below. 

B. Sign Permits.  Planning Commission approval of a Sign Permit (Chapter 17.132) is required for 

the following types of signs and approvals: 

1. New signs in the Mixed Use Village (MU-V) zoning district. 

2. Exterior neon signs. 

3. Monument signs for more than four tenants. 

4. Auto dealership signs in the C-R zoning district (Section 17.80.080.A) that are not otherwise 

allowed with an Administrative Sign Permit. 

5. Adjustments to sign standards in low visibility areas in commercial zoning districts 

(17.80.120.E). 

6. Signs that do not conform with permitted sign types and standards in Section 17.80.080 

(Standards for Specific Types of Signs) 

7. Master sign programs (Section 17.80.130). 

C. City-Installed Signs.  City-installed signs in all zoning districts do not require a permit. 

17.80.040 Rules of Measurement 

A. Calculation of Sign Area. 

1. Sign area is measured as the area of all sign copy, framing, or other display enclosed within 

a continuous perimeter forming a single geometric shape with no more than six sides.  See 

Figure 17-80-1. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 135

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-4 

FIGURE 17-80-1: MEASUREMENT OF SIGN AREA 

 

2. Supporting framework or bracing that is clearly incidental to the display itself shall not be 

calculated as sign area. 

3. The area of a double-faced (back-to-back) sign shall be calculated as a single sign face if the 

distance between each sign face does not exceed 18 inches and the two faces are parallel with 

each other 

4. The area  of spherical, free-form, sculptural or other non-planar signs are measured as 50 

percent of the sum of the area enclosed within the four vertical sides of the smallest four-

sided polyhedron that will encompass the sign structure.  See Figure 17.80-2.  

 

FIGURE 17.80-2:  NON-PLANER SIGN AREA 

 

B. Monument Sign Height Measurement.  The height of a monument or other freestanding 

sign is measured as the vertical distance from the sidewalk or top of curb nearest the base of the 

sign to the top of the highest element of the sign. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 136

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-5 

17.80.050 Signs Allowed Without Permits 

Note: This section expands the type of signs currently allowed without a permit in Section 17.57.030 of 
the existing Zoning Code.    

A. Types of Signs.  The following signs are allowed without a planning permit and shall not be 

counted towards the allowable sign area or number of signs on a parcel:  

1. On-site directional signs which do not include commercial messages or images, not to 

exceed 3 feet in height and 6 square feet in area. 

2. Informational signs which do not include commercial messages or images, displayed for 

the safety and convenience of the public, providing information such as “restrooms,” 

“danger,” “impaired clearance,” “no smoking,” “parking in rear,” and other signs of a 

similar nature. 

3. Flags bearing noncommercial messages or graphic symbols. 

4. One commemorative plaque identifying a building name, date of construction, or similar 

information that is cut into, carved, or made of stone, concrete, metal, or other similar 

permanent material.  

5. One bulletin board on a parcel occupied by a noncommercial place of public assembly, 

with a maximum area of 12 square feet. 

6. Political signs during an election period located outside of a public street, path, or right-of-

way.  Political signs may not exceed 32 square feet per unit.  

7. Signs within a building, or on the premises of a building, that are not visible from the 

public right-of-way and are intended for interior viewing only. 

8. Murals on the exterior of a building that do not advertise a product, business, or service. 

9. Official or legal notices required by a court order or governmental agency. 

10. Signs installed by a governmental agency within the public right-of-way, including signs 

advertising local nonprofit, civic, or fraternal organizations. 

11. Signs, postings, or notices required by a governmental agency to carry out its responsibility 

to protect the public health, safety, and general welfare. 

12. Restaurant menu signs attached to a building, with a maximum area of 3 square feet. 

13. Real estate listings posted in the window of a real estate office, with a maximum area of 25 

percent of the total window area. 

14. Residential signs not requiring a building permit as specified in Section 17.80.100 (Residential 

Signs). 

15. Temporary signs consistent with Section 17.80.110 (Temporary Signs). 

16. Vacation rental signs up to 8.5 inches by 11 inches. Existing rental signs shall be brought 

into compliance with this standard within one year from [effective date of Zoning Code]. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 137

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-6 

17. Garage sale signs limited to the day of the garage sale. 

B. Building Permit Review.  Planning staff shall review all proposed signs listed in Section A 

(above) that require a Building Permit to verify compliance with all applicable standards. 

Note: Ability to change the face of a sign without approval in Section C below is new to respond to legal 
requirements for sign regulations to be content neutral.    

C. Changes to Sign Face.  Changes to a sign face that do not structurally alter or enlarge a 

legally-established sign and utilize similar materials shall not require a planning permit. 

D. Routine Maintenance.  The painting, cleaning, repair, and normal maintenance of a legally-

established sign shall not require a planning permit. 

17.80.060 Prohibited Signs 

Note: This section expands the types of prohibited signs currently listed in Section 17.57.040 of the 
existing Zoning Code.    

The following signs are prohibited: 

A. Signs or sign structures which have become a public nuisance or hazard due to inadequate 

maintenance, dilapidation, or abandonment. 

B. Portable signs placed on the ground other than sidewalk signs permitted in the MU-V zoning 

district consistent with Section 17.80.080.K (Sidewalk Signs). 

C. Roof signs. 

D. Signs emitting odors, gases, or fluids. 

E. Signs that feature a flag, pennant, whirligig, or any device which is designed to wave, flutter, rotate 

or display other movement under the influence of wind, excluding flags and insignia of any 

government. 

F. Digital display and electronic readerboard signs which allow the image on a sign to be changed 

by electronic control methods, except for digital gas and service station signs consistent with 

Section 17.80.080.H (Gas and Service Station Signs) and parking garage signs consistent with 

Section 17.80.080.I (Parking Garage Signs). 

G. Animated signs, with the exception of clocks and barber poles. 

H. Signs that emit sound. 

I. Signs which simulate in size, color, lettering, or design a traffic control sign or signal. 

J. Signs which flash, blink, change color, or change intensity. 

K. Beacons. 

L. Signs mounted or attached to a vehicle parked for the purpose of calling attention to or 

advertising a business establishment. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 138

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-7 

M. Signs that have been abandoned, or whose advertised use has ceased to function for a period of 

90 days or more. 

N. Signs adversely affecting traffic control or safety. 

O. Signs containing obscene matter. 

P. Signs with exposed raceways. 

Q. Signs attached to trees. 

R. Signs erected or maintained with horizontal or vertical clearance from overhead utilities less 

than required by State agencies. 

S. Signs erected for the dominant purpose of being seen by travelers on a freeway, except for auto 

dealership signs as allowed by Section 17.80.080.A (Auto Dealership Signs). 

T. Inflatable signs and  balloons greater than fifteen inches in diameter, except for temporary auto 

dealership signs. 

U. Signs on public property not placed there by the public entity having the possessory interest in 

such property.  

V. All other signs not specifically permitted by or exempted from the requirements of this chapter. 

17.80.070 General Sign Standards 

A. Maximum Permitted Sign Area. Table 17.80-1 identifies the maximum permitted 

cumulative/total sign area permitted on a property in each zoning district. Each business may 

have a mix of the sign types allowed by Section 17.80.080 (Standards for Specific Sign Types) 

provided the area of all signs on the property does not exceed the maximum established in 

Table 17.80-1. 

TABLE 17.80-1: SIGN AREA STANDARDS 

 Zoning District Area per Linear Foot of Building Frontage 

 MU-V, MU -N 0.5 sq. ft. per linear foot up to 36 sq. ft. max 

MU-N, C-R, C-C, I 1 sq. ft. per linear foot up to 50 sq. ft. max 

VS, CF, P/OS [1] As determined through Sign Permit 

PD As determined through the Development Plan 

Notes: 

Sign requirements in the Visitor Serving overlay zone shall be as required by the base zoning district.   

 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 139

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-8 

B. Maintenance.  Signs, including all supports, braces, and anchors, shall be maintained in a state 

of good repair at all times.  Damage to signs, including cracked sign faces, frayed or weathered 

fabric, and broken lighting, shall be repaired promptly. 

C. Building Surface Repair.  When an existing sign is replaced or modified, any newly exposed 

portions of a building surface on which the sign is displayed shall be repaired and repainted to 

restore a uniform appearance to the surface.  Compliance with this requirement includes the 

removal of any excess conduit and supports, and the patching or filling of any exposed holes. 

D. Illumination. 

Note: Limiting internal illumination to lettering, trademark, or logo in paragraph 1 below is new.    

1. Non-residential signs may be internally or externally illuminated except where specifically 

prohibited.  Internal illumination is permitted only when the portion of the sign that 

appears illuminated is primarily the sign lettering, registered trademark, or logo. Internally 

illuminated boxes are prohibited, except that the copy of an existing internally illuminated 

box sign may be replaced with a change of business. 

2. The light source for externally illuminated signs shall be positioned so that light does not 

shine directly on adjoining properties or cause glare for motorists or pedestrians. 

3. Exposed bulbs are not permitted. 

4. Internal illumination is prohibited in the Mixed-Use Village (MU-V). 

E. Materials and Design. 

1. Except for interior window signs, all permanent signs shall be constructed of wood, metal, 

plastic, glass, or similar durable and weatherproof material. 

2. The design of signs, including its shape, features, materials, colors, and textures, shall be 

compatible with the design character of the development or use it identifies and will not have 

an adverse effect on the character and integrity of the surrounding area. 

F. Location and Placement. 

1. All signs shall be located on the same parcel as the business or use that it serves, except as 

otherwise allowed by this chapter. 

2. Signs shall not obstruct the ingress to, or egress from, a door, window, fire escape, or other 

required accessway. 

3. Signs shall not interfere with visibility at an intersection, public right-of-way, driveway, or 

other point of ingress/egress.  The City may require sign setbacks greater than specified in 

this chapter as needed to maintain adequate visibility for motorists and pedestrians. See 

Section 17.96.050 (Intersection Sign Distance). 

G. Signs in the Public Right-of-Way. 

1. No sign shall be permitted in the public right-of-way, except for: 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 140

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-9 

a. Signs installed or required by a governmental agency. 

b. Signs advertising local nonprofit, civic, or fraternal organizations with City Engineer 

approval. 

c. Awning, canopy , marquee, projecting, or suspended signs attached to a building wall 

subject to the requirements in Section 17.80.080 (Standards for Specific Types of 

Signs). 

d. Sidewalk signs in the Village Mixed Use (MU-V) zoning district consistent with 

Section 17.80.080.G (Sidewalk Signs). 

e. Shared auto dealership signs consistent with Section 17.80.080.A (Auto Dealership 

Signs). 

2. Any sign illegally installed or placed on public property shall be subject to removal and 

disposal as specified in Section 17.80.150 (Violations and Enforcement).  The City shall 

have the right to recover from the owner or person placing such a sign the full costs of 

removal and disposal of the sign. 

3. Signs in the public right-of-way may require City approval of an Encroachment Permit.  

17.80.080 Standards for Specific Types of Signs 

Signs consistent with the standards in this section are allowed with an Administrative Permit unless 

Planning Commission approval of a Sign Permit is specifically required. Signs that deviate from the 

standards in this section may be allowed with Planning Commission approval of a Sign Permit in 

accordance with Section 17.80.120 (Adjustment to Sign Standards). 

A. Auto Dealership Signs.   

1. In addition to signs allowed with an Administrative Sign Permit (17.080.030.A), the Planning 

Commission may allow special auto dealership signage in the C-R zoning district with 

approval of a Sign Permit subject to the following standards: 

a. Location: On or adjacent to an auto dealership land use. 

b. Placement: 10 feet minimum setback from property line abutting the public right-of-

way. 

c. Maximum Height: At or below roof line. 

d. Maximum Area: 100 square feet 

e. The Planning Commission may allow one shared sign used by multiple auto dealerships 

at the entry of Auto Plaza Drive which extends into or above the public right-of-way. 

2. The Planning Commission may allow temporary auto dealership signage, such as signage on 

light poles and flags and pennants, that deviate from temporary sign standards in 17.80.110 

(Temporary Signs) with the approval of a Sign Permit.  

B. Awning Signs.   

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 141

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-10 

1. Standards for awning signs in each zoning district are as shown in Table 17.80-2.  

2. Awning signs shall be located on the awning above a display window or the entrance to the 

business it serves.  

3. An awning sign that projects over any public walkway or walk area shall have an overhead 

clearance of at least 8 feet. 

TABLE 17.80-2: AWNING SIGN STANDARDS 

 Awning Face Sign Awning Valance Sign 

Zoning District 
Maximum 

Area 
Maximum 
Number 

Maximum 
Area 

Maximum 
Letter Height 

Maximum 
Number 

MU-V, MU-N 
Sign Permit Required  
(Chapter 17.132) 

75 percent of 
valance 

Two-thirds of 
valance height 

1 sign per awning 
located on either 
the awning face 
or the awning 
valance 

C-R, C-C 
30 percent of 
awning face 

1 sign per awning 
located on either 
the awning face 
or the awning 
valance I 

20 percent of 
awning face 

Note: In the Visitor Serving (VS), Community Facility (CF) and Parks and Open Space (P/OS) zoning districts, 

standards for awning signs shall be established by the Planning Commission through a Sign Permit. In the Planned 

Development (PD) zoning district, standards for awning signs shall be established by the City Council in the 

Development Plan.  

C. Monument Signs. 

1. Standards for monument signs in each zoning district are as shown in Table 17.80-3. 

TABLE 17.80-3: MONUMENT SIGN STANDARDS 

 Zoning District Maximum Area Maximum Height Maximum Number 

 MU-V 12 sq. ft. 

4 ft. 
1 per property 

 
 MU-N 16 sq, ft. 

 C-R 60 sq. ft. 

8 ft. 1 per building frontage 

 C-C 

35 sq. ft. 

 I 4 ft. 1 per building frontage 

Note: In the Visitor Serving (VS), Community Facility (CF) and Parks and Open Space (P/OS) zoning districts, 

standards for monument signs shall be established by the Planning Commission through a Sign Permit. In the Planned 

Development (PD) zoning district, standards for monument signs shall be established by the City Council in the 

Development Plan.  

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 142

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-11 

2.  Monument signs shall be placed on the property of the business associated with the sign. 

3. Where two monument signs are allowed on a corner parcel, each sign be placed at least 200 

feet from the intersection corner. 

4. A monument sign for up to four tenants may be approved with an Administrative Sign 

Permit.  Monument signs listing more than four tenants require Planning Commission 

approval of a Sign Permit. 

5. The area surrounding the base of a monument sign shall be landscaped consistent with 

Chapter 17.72 (Landscaping). 

6. Monument signs shall be placed at least 5 feet away from any public or private driveway. 

7. Monument signs shall be placed at least 5 feet behind sidewalk or property line, whichever 

is greater. 

8. The height of a monument sign is measured as the vertical distance from the sidewalk or top 

of curb nearest the base of the sign to the top of the highest element of the sign. 

9. Monument signs are not allowed in conjunction with wall signs on a property with three or 

fewer businesses. 

D. Center Identification Signs. 

1. Standards for center identification signs in each zoning district are as shown in Table 17.80-

4.   

2. Center identification signs shall identify the name of the center but may not include the name 

of any business or businesses within the center. 

3. No more than one freestanding sign is permitted per center street frontage. If a monument 

sign is located along the center frontage, an additional center identification sign is not 

permitted. 

 

TABLE 17.80-4: CENTER IDENTIFICATION SIGN STANDARDS 

 Zoning District Maximum Area Maximum Height Maximum Number 

 MU-V and MU-N Not permitted 

 C-R 60 sq. ft. 

5 ft. 1 per shopping center 

 C-C 35 sq. ft. 

 I Not permitted 

Note: In the Planned Development (PD) zoning district, standards for center identification signs shall be established by 

the City Council in the Development Plan.  

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 143

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-12 

E. Directory Signs. 

1. Standards for directory signs in each zoning district are as shown in Table 17.80-5.   

2. Directory signs may not be legible from adjacent public rights-of-way. 

3. Directory signs shall identify the names of the occupant of the building or complex. 

 

TABLE 17.80-5: DIRECTORY SIGN STANDARDS 

 Zoning District Maximum Area Maximum Height 

 MU-V 12 sq. ft. 
4 ft. 

 
 MU-N 16 sq. ft. 

 C-R 30 sq. ft. 

5 ft. 

 C-C 25 sq. ft. 

 I 25 sq. ft. 4 ft. 

Note: In the Visitor Serving (VS), Community Facility (CF) and Parks and Open Space (P/OS) zoning districts, 

standards for directory signs shall be established by the Planning Commission through a Sign Permit. In the Planned 

Development (PD) zoning district, standards for directory signs shall be established by the City Council in the 

Development Plan.  

 

F. Wall Signs.     

1. Standards for wall signs in each zoning district are as shown in Table 17.80-6.   

2. Wall signs shall be attached parallel to the exterior wall of the business associated with the 

sign and may not extend above the top of building wall. 

3. Wall signs may be in cabinets, on wood, or on similar material attached to the wall or painted 

directly on the wall. 

4. Any portion of a wall sign that projects over any public walkway or walk area shall have an 

overhead clearance of at least 8 feet. 

5. Wall signs are not allowed in conjunction with a monument sign on a property with three or 

fewer businesses. 

6. On a corner lot, one wall sign is allowed per street frontage.  

 

 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 144

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-13 

 

TABLE 17.80-6: WALL SIGN STANDARDS 

 Zoning District [1] Maximum Area 
Maximum 

Projection from Wall 
Maximum Number 

 MU-V 
0.5 sq. ft. per linear foot 

of shopfront, not to 
exceed 36 sq. ft. max 4 in. 1 per shopfront 

 MU-N 1.0 sq. ft. per linear foot 
of shopfront, not to 

exceed 36 ft.  C-R, C-C, I [2] 12 in. 1 per shopfront 

Note: 

[1] In the Visitor Serving (VS), Community Facility (CF) and Parks and Open Space (P/OS) zoning districts, standards 

for wall signs shall be established by the Planning Commission through a Sign Permit. In the Planned Development (PD) 

zoning district, standards for wall signs shall be established by the City Council in the Development Plan. 

[2] Wall signs are not allowed in conjunction with a monument sign in the Industrial (I) zoning district. 

 

G. Projecting Signs. 

1. Standards for projecting signs in each zoning district are as shown in Table 17.80-7.   

2. Projecting signs shall be attached to the ground floor exterior wall of the business associated 

with the sign and may not extend above the top of the second story finished floor. 

3. Projecting signs shall maintain a minimum 2-foot horizontal clearance from a driveway or 

street curb.   

4. An encroachment permit must be obtained for all signs projecting over a public right-of-

way. 

5. A projecting sign that projects over any public walkway or walk area shall have an overhead 

clearance of at least 8 feet. 

TABLE 17.80-7: PROJECTING SIGN STANDARDS 

 Zoning District Maximum Area 
Maximum 

Projection from 
Wall 

Maximum Number 

 MU-V, MU-N 4 sq. ft. 4 ft. 
1 per business 

entryway or storefront 

 C-R, C-C, I 8 sq. ft. 4 ft. 
1 per business 

entryway or storefront 

Note: 

In the Visitor Serving (VS), Community Facility (CF) and Parks and Open Space (P/OS) zoning districts, standards for 

projecting signs shall be established by the Planning Commission through a Sign Permit. In the Planned Development 

(PD) zoning district, standards for projecting signs shall be established by the City Council in the Development Plan. 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 145

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-14 

H. Gas and Service Station Signs. All signs associated with gas and service stations shall In addition 

to signs allowed with an Administrative Sign Permit (Section 17.080.030.A), the Planning 

Commission may allow special gas and service station signs that comply with the following 

standards . 

1. A maximum of two signs, not exceeding 4 square feet, shall be allowed on each pump island 

to denote either full service or self-service. 

2. No other signs will be allowed to be attached to pumps or islands other than required by 

State law. (See Business & Professions Code Section 13530.) 

3. A six-foot-high monument sign which displays prices charged, credit cards accepted or 

special services rendered shall be allowed on each street frontage. 

4. Digital changeable copy signs for gasoline pricing is permitted. 

5. Two additional signs up to a maximum of 1 square foot are permitted to advertise ancillary 

services such as ATMs and propane.  Such signs must be attached to another sign or 

structure and may not be a portable freestanding sign.   

I. Parking Garage Signs. A maximum of one digital display signs not exceeding four square feet 

on each street frontage is permitted to show the number of available parking spaces. 

J. Window Signs 

1. Standards for window signs in each zoning district are as shown in Table 17.80-8.   

2. Window signs may be attached only to the inside of a ground floor window of the business 

associated with the sign. 

3. Interior signs within one foot of a window and publicly visible from outside of the building 

shall be included in the calculation of sign area for the property. 

 

TABLE 17.80-8: WINDOW SIGN STANDARDS 

 Zoning District Maximum Area 

 MU-V, MU-N 25 percent of window 

 C-R, C-C, I 30 percent of window 

Note: 

[1] In the Visitor Serving (VS), Community Facility (CF) and Parks and Open Space (P/OS) zoning districts, standards 

for window signs shall be established by the Planning Commission through a Sign Permit. In the Planned Development 

(PD) zoning district, standards for window signs shall be established by the City Council in the Development Plan. 

 

 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 146

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-15 

K. Sidewalk Signs.  

1. Where Allowed. Sidewalk signs are permitted only in the MU-V zoning district consistent 

with the requirements of this section.   

2. Permits Required. 

a. Sidewalk signs consistent with this section and the approved BIA design as illustrated 

in Figure 17-80-3 can be issued an over the counter sign permit by the Community 

Development Director. [Option: The shape of the sign face must match the shape shown in Figure 

17-80-3.] 

b. Option: The Planning Commission may allow sidewalk signs that deviate from the approved BIA 

design illustrated in Figure 17-80-3 through the Adjustment to Sign Standards process in Section 

17.80.120. 

c. All sidewalk signs shall obtain an encroachment permit. The encroachment permit will 

identify the location and method used to drill a hole in the sidewalk and/or the location 

of a sign on a base. 

d. The owner of any business desiring to place a sidewalk sign on the City right-of-way 

shall provide an executed City hold harmless waiver and proof of liability insurance to 

the satisfaction of the City Attorney in the amount of one million dollars prior to placing 

the sign within said right-of-way. 

 

FIGURE 17-80-3: SIDEWALK SIGN STANDARDS AND DESIGN CONCEPTS 

 

3. Dimensions. Sidewalk signs shall comply with the dimension standards in Table 17.80-9. 

  

 TABLE 17.80-9: SIDEWALK SIGNS STANDARDS 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 147

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-16 

  
Zoning District 

Sign Face Entire Sign 

Maximum Area 
Maximum 

Width 

Maximum 
Height 

Maximum 
Height [1] 

 MU-V 3.75 sq. ft. 18 in. 30 in. 58 in. 

All Other 
Zoning 
Districts 

Not permitted 

Note: 

[1] Measured from sidewalk to top of sign 

 

4. Number of Signs. 

a. Only one two-sided sidewalk sign per business establishment with direct access from 

the sidewalk is permitted. 

b. Multi-tenant developments are permitted one sidewalk sign per each common exterior 

public business entrance.   

5. Materials and Design. 

a. Sidewalk signs shall be attached to a cast iron metal pole. Poles may be either drilled 

into the sidewalk or inserted into a moveable base. Moveable bases shall be constructed 

of cast iron, form a circle with a diameter of no more than 18 inches, and must be 

approved as part of the sign permit. 

b. Lights, banners, flags or similar objects shall not be placed on or adjacent to sidewalk 

signs. 

c. Signs faces be constructed of solid wood, metal or similar durable and weatherproof 

material. 

d. No sidewalk sign may contain lights of any kind. 

6. Sidewalk Clearance. 

a. The sidewalk in front of the business must be at least 78 inches in width. 

b. Sidewalk signs shall not interfere with pedestrian ingress or egress as required by the 

building code or obstruct vehicular traffic sight distance requirements. A 48-inch level 

clear path of travel on concrete or similar material must be maintained where the sign is 

located. 

7. Separation from Other Sidewalk Signs. Sidewalk signs shall be spaced a minimum of 30 

linear feet from all other permitted sidewalk signs. 

8. Display During Open Hours. Sidewalk signs may be used only during the hours when the 

business is open to the public. At all other times the sign and base must be stored within the 

business premises. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 148

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-17 

9. Advertising Multiple Businesses. Individual signs may advertise more than one business. 

10. Other Business Signage. 

a. No other temporary advertising signs (Section 17.80.110) may be used at the same time 

as the sidewalk sign is in use.  

b. All other signs on the property must be in conformance with the City’s sign regulations 

prior to a sidewalk sign permit being issued. 

c.b.   

11. Multi-tenant developments shall be permitted one sidewalk sign per each common exterior 

public business entrance. 

12. Individual signs may advertise more than one business. 

17.80.090 Design Standards 

Note: Sign standards tailored to individual zoning districts in this section are new.    

A. Design Standards for Mixed Use Zoning Districts. The following design standards apply to 

all signs in the MU-V and MU-N zoning districts. 

1. Signs shall preserve, complement, or enhance the architectural composition and features of 

the building to which it is attached.  Signs may not cover or obscure significant architectural 

details of the building to which it is attached. 

2. Signs shall be coordinated with the overall façade composition, including ornamental details 

and other signs on the building to which it is attached. 

3. Signs shall be mounted to fit within existing architectural features. The shape of the sign shall 

be used to reinforce the relationship of moldings and transoms seen along the street. 

4. Signs shall be located and designed so that they are legible when viewed from the sidewalk. 

Sign letter styles and sizes shall be designed for legibility from the sidewalk, not the street.  

5. To the extent possible, sign attachment parts shall be reused in their original location (holes 

in the façade or fixing positions) to protect the original building materials. 

6. Internally illuminated signs are prohibited in the MU-V zoning district. Internally illuminated 

signs are allowed in the MU-N zoning district only when the portion of the sign that appears 

illuminated is primarily the sign lettering, registered trademark, or logo.  Large panel 

internally illuminated signs are prohibited.  

7. Wiring conduit for sign lighting shall be carefully routed to avoid damage to architectural 

details and to be concealed from view as much as possible. 

8. Sign materials and colors shall be compatible with the period and style of building to which 

is it is attached. Sign panels shall avoid the extensive use of primary color or significant areas 

of white or cream. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 149

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-18 

9. Letters and logos shall be raised, routed into the sign face, or designed to give the sign variety 

and depth. 

10. The sign will not have a significant adverse effect on the character and integrity of the 

surrounding area.  

B. Design Standards for Commercial Zoning Districts. The following design standards apply to 

all signs in the C-C and C-R zoning districts. 

1. Sign design shall conform to and be in harmony with the architectural character of the 

building. 

2. Signs shall be symmetrically located within a defined architectural space. 

3. Internally illuminated signs are permitted only when the portion of the sign that appears 

illuminated is primarily the sign lettering, registered trademark, or logo.  Large panel 

internally illuminated signs are prohibited. 

4. The design of monument and other freestanding signs relate to the architecture of the 

building or development they serve.  Exterior materials, finishes and colors shall be the same 

or similar to those of the building or structures on site. 

5. Letters and logos shall be raised, routed into the sign face, or designed to give the sign variety 

and depth.  

C. Design Standards for Industrial Zoning District. Signs within the Industrial (I) zoning district 

shall be constructed of metal or other materials consistent with the light industrial character of 

the zoning district. 

17.80.100 Residential Signs 

A. General Standards.  Dwelling units may display signs consistent with the following standards: 

1. Maximum allowable sign area:  3 square feet per unit. 

2. Maximum number of signs:  1 sign.  

3. Permitted sign types:  Window and wall signs. 

4. The height of signs on fences shall not exceed the maximum permitted fence height in the 

applicable zone. 

5. An Administrative Sign Permit is required if the sign requires a building permit; otherwise, 

no planning permit is required. 

6. Illumination from non-ambient light sources is prohibited.  Flashing, neon, and exposed 

bulb signs are prohibited. 

7. Any and all protected non-commercial speech is permitted on a residential sign, including 

garage sale signs, nameplates, identification signs, and warning signs. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 150

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-19 

8. For home occupations and vacation rentals, one single wall-mounted outdoor sign of not 

more than 8.5 inches by 11 inches in area is permitted. Existing signs have one year from 

adoption of the Zoning Code by the City Council to meet this standard. 

B. Multi-Unit Properties.  In addition to the signs allowed for each dwelling unit, multi-unit 

properties may display one or more master signs subject to the following requirements: 

1. A master sign program (17.80.130) has been approved for the multi-unit property. 

2. Maximum allowable sign area:  20 square feet per property. 

3. A master sign for a multi-unit property requires an Administrative Sign Permit. 

17.80.110  Temporary Signs 

A. Permitted Temporary Signs.  Table 17.80-10 (Temporary Sign Standards) identifies temporary 

signs permitted either by-right or with the approval of an Administrative Sign Permit. The 

Planning Commission may allow other types of temporary signs or temporary signs that do not 

comply with the standards in Table 17.80-1 with approval of a Sign Permit. 

 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 151

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-20 

TABLE 17.80-10 TEMPORARY SIGN STANDARDS 

Sign Type Permit Required Use Restriction Maximum Number Maximum Area/ Size Maximum Duration 

Auto Dealership Signs 

- Flags 

- Pennants 

- Balloons 

None Auto dealerships on 

Auto Plaza Drive only 

No maximum 0.5 sq. ft. per linear 

business frontage; 30 sq. 

ft. max; 1/3 of window 

max 

30 continuous calendar 

days; no more than 120 

days each calendar year 

Commercial Banner Signs Administrative Sign 

Permit 

Non-residential uses 

only 

1 per 500 ft. of linear site 

frontage; 2 sign 

maximum 

30 sq. ft. 30 continuous calendar 

days; no more than 60 

days each calendar year 

Construction Site Signs - 

Residential 

Administrative Sign 

Permit 

Residential uses only 1 per 500 ft. of linear 

site frontage; 2 sign 

maximum 

Height: 5 ft.  

Area: 12 sq. ft. 

From issuance of 

building permit to 

certificate of occupancy 

Construction Site Signs - 

Non-Residential 

Administrative Sign 

Permit 

Commercial and 

industrial uses only 

1 per 500 ft. of linear 

site frontage; 2 sign 

maximum 

Height: 8 ft.; 4 ft. in 

MU-V  

Area: 40 sq. ft.; 12 sq. ft. 

in MU-V 

From issuance of 

building permit to 

certificate of occupancy 

For Sale, Lease, and Rent 

Signs, Non-Residential 

None Commercial and 

industrial uses only 

1 per property Height: 8 ft. 

Area: 40 sq. ft. 

1 year; Director may 

approve extension   

For Sale, Lease, and Rent 

Signs, Residential 

None Residential uses only 1 per property Height: 4 ft. 

Area: 6 sq. ft. 

180 days; Director may 

approve extension   

Open House or model 

home  

None None 1 per property and 1 on 

other property with 

owner consent 

Height: 4 ft. 

Area: 6 ft. 

Limited to day of open 

house. 

Special Event None Special events open to 

the public (e.g., open 

studio) 

1 per property and 1 on 

other property with 

owner consent 

Height: 4 ft. 

Area: 6 ft. 

Limited to day of special 

event house. 

Residential Subdivision Administrative Sign 

Permit 

Residential subdivisions 

and condominiums 

located in the city  

1 per subdivision Height: 10 ft. 

Area: 40 sq. ft. 

180 days or upon the 

sale of the last unit, 

whichever comes first   

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 152

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-21 

 

17.80.120 Adjustment to Sign Standards 

Note: Ability for the Planning Commission to approve modifications to certain sign standards are new.    

This section establishes procedures to allow the Planning Commission to approve signs that deviate 

from certain standards to provide reasonable flexibility in the administration of the sign ordinance.   

A. Permit Required.  Adjustments to sign standards allowed by this section requires Planning 

Commission approval of a Sign Permit. 

B. Permitted Adjustments.  The Planning Commission may allow adjustment to the following 

sign standards: 

1. The type of sign allowed in non-residential zoning districts (e.g.., awning signs, monument 

signs). 

2. Requirements for temporary signs. 

3. The maximum permitted sign area up to a 25 percent increase. 

4. The maximum permitted sign height up to 25 percent increase. 

C. Excluded Adjustments. The Planning Commission may not use the sign standards adjustment 

process to approve deviations to the following sign standards: 

1. Prohibited Signs (Section 17.80.060). 

2. All general Sign Standards (Section 17.80.070) except maximum permitted sign area 

(17.80.70.A). 

3. Maximum number of signs allowed per property. 

4. Residential signs (Section 17.80.100). 

D. Findings.  The Planning Commission may approve an adjustment to sign standards as allowed 

by this section if the following findings can be made in addition to findings required to approve 

Sign Permit applications: 

1. The sign will be compatible with adjacent structures and uses and is consistent with the 

character of the neighborhood or district where it is located. 

2. The sign will not adversely impact neighboring properties or the community at large. 

3. The adjustment is necessary due to unique characteristics of the subject property, structure, 

or use. 

4. The sign will be consistent with the purpose of the zoning district, the General Plan, Local 

Coastal Program, and any adopted area or neighborhood plan. 

5. The adjustment will not establish an undesirable precedent. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 153

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-22 

E. Low Visibility Commercial Properties. 

1. In addition to adjustments allowed by subsection A through D above, the Planning 

Commission may allow additional adjustments to sign standards for low visibility properties 

in the C-R and C-C zoning districts.  A low visibility property means a property where 

signage consistent with applicable standards would not be easily visible from the street or 

sidewalk due to the width of street frontage, parcel depth or configuration, placement of 

buildings on the property, topography, vegetation, or other physical characteristic of the 

property. 

2. Adjustments to sign standards for low visibility properties require Planning Commission 

approval of a Sign Permit. 

3. Adjustments are allowed to required sign types, height, size, placement, and number.  

Adjustments may not allow for prohibited signs or monument signs. 

4. The Planning Commission may approve additional or variations to any type of signage upon 

making the following findings: 

a. The special signage, as designed and conditioned, is necessary and appropriate for the 

subject commercial site, in order to allow the site and the businesses located within it to 

be competitive with other businesses of a similar nature located elsewhere, and/or to 

be competitive with industry standards governing sale of the merchandise offered at the 

site. 

b. The special signage, as designed and conditioned, will not have a significant adverse 

effect on the character and integrity of the surrounding area. 

17.80.130 Master Sign Program 

A. Purpose.  The purpose of the Master Sign Program is to provide a coordinated approach to 

signage for multi-family development and multi-tenant commercial developments. 

B. Applicability.  A Master Sign Program is required for multi-family uses with more than one 

permanent sign proposed, and any non-residential development with four or more tenants. 

C. Permit Required.  A Master Sign Program requires Planning Commission approval of a Sign 

Permit. 

D. Applications.  Applications shall be filed with the Planning Department on the appropriate 

City forms, together with all the necessary fees, deposits, exhibits, maps, and other information 

required by the Department to clearly and accurately describe the proposed Master Sign 

Program. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 154

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-23 

E. Master Sign Program Contents.  All Master Sign Programs shall identify the materials, color, 

size, type, placement and general design of signs located on a project or property.   

Note: Design standards for master sign programs in Subsection F below which allow variety in the 
design of individual signs are new.    

F. Design Standards. 

1. Master Sign Programs shall feature a unified and coordinated approach to the materials, 

size, type, placement and general design of signs proposed for a project or property. Master 

Sign Programs may allow for variety in the design of individual signs.  

2. A Master Sign Program may deviate from standards contained in this chapter relating to 

permitted sign height, number of signs, sign area, and type of sign.  A Master Sign Program 

may not allow a prohibited signs as identified in Section 17.80.060 (Prohibited Signs). 

G. Effect of Master Sign Program.   

1. All subsequent signs proposed for a development or property subject to an approved 

Master Sign Program shall comply with the standards and specifications included in the 

Master Sign Program. 

2. Signs consistent with an approved Master Sign Program are allowed with an Administrative 

Sign Permit. 

3. Approval of a Master Sign Program shall supersede the regulations of this chapter.  Any 

aspect of the proposed signs not addressed by the Master Sign Program shall be in 

compliance with this chapter. 

17.80.140 Nonconforming Signs 

This section applies to all legally-established signs that do not conform to current requirements in 

this chapter. 

A. Continuation. 

1. Except as required by paragraph 2 below, a nonconforming sign may continue its use as a 

sign if it was legally established in compliance with all applicable regulations in effect at the 

time it was established. It is the applicant’s responsibility to demonstrate that the sign was 

legally established. 

2. A nonconforming sign must be brought into conformance with this chapter if the existing 

structure is increased beyond 50 percent of the floor area of the existing structure.  

B. Allowed Changes. 

1. Changes to sign copy/face and repainting of legal nonconforming signs is permitted as 

long as there is no alteration to the physical structure or support elements of the sign.   

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 155

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-24 

2. A legal-nonconforming sign that sustains less than 50-percent damage to its structure may 

be repaired to its original pre-damaged condition, provided that such repair is completed 

within 180 days after the date of the damage. 

Note: Requirements to bring nonconforming signs into compliance in Subsection C below are new.    

C. Required Compliance.   A legal nonconforming sign shall be removed or brought into 

compliance with this chapter in the following situations: 

1. The use advertised by the sign has ceased to function for a period of 90 days or more. 

2. The sign has sustained at least 50-percent damage to its structure. 

3. The sign is located on a remodeled building façade.   

4. The sign is relocated to a different lot or building. 

17.80.150 Violations and Enforcement 

Note: This section adds more detailed procedures for the removal of illegal signs currently addressed in 
Sections 17.57.130 and 140 of the existing Zoning Code.    

A. Illegal Signs.  It is unlawful for any person to install, place, construct, repair, maintain, alter or 

move a sign in a manner that does not comply with the requirements of this chapter. 

B. Removal of Illegal Signs.   

1. The City may immediately remove or cause the removal of any sign that places the public 

in immediate peril or that is located within the public right-of-way. 

2. For illegal signs that do not place the public in immediate peril and are located on private 

property, the City shall serve the business owner or person responsible for the sign a 

written certified notice that: 

a. Describes the physical characteristics of the subject sign. 

b. Explains the nature of the violation. 

c. States that the sign shall be removed or brought into compliance with this article 

within a specified number of days after the notice is received. 

d. States that the City will remove the sign if the business owner or person responsible 

for sign does not correct the violation within the specified number of days after the 

notice is received.  

e. States that the City may destroy the illegal sign if it is not retrieved within 20 days of 

removal by the City. 

f. States that the business owner or person responsible for all costs associated with the 

removal, storage, and destruction of the sign. 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 156

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



 
 SIGNS 17.80 

 

80-25 

3. If an illegal sign is not removed or brought into compliance within the specified number of 

days after a notice is received, the City may issue a citation to the business owner or person 

responsible for the sign as provided in Municipal Code Title 4 (General Municipal Code 

Enforcement) and may remove or cause the removal of the sign.  

4. Any accessory structures, foundations, or mounting materials which are unsightly or a 

danger to the public health, safety, and welfare shall be removed at the time of the sign 

removal. 

5. A sign removed by the City shall be stored for a minimum of 20 days.  If the sign is not 

retrieved by the business owner or person responsible for the sign within this 20-day 

period, the City may destroy the sign. 

 

 

 

6.C.5

Packet Pg. 157

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
 O

rd
in

an
ce

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)



Copy of the approved BIA sidewalk sign maintained in the planning department of the City of Capitola.  

 

 

6.C.6

Packet Pg. 158

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 B

IA
 S

id
ew

al
k 

S
ig

n
  (

17
96

 :
 Z

o
n

in
g

 C
o

d
e 

U
p

d
at

e)



6.
C

.7

P
ac

ke
t 

P
g

. 1
59

Attachment: Heintz Public Input on Zoning Map  (1796 : Zoning Code Update)



6.
C

.7

P
ac

ke
t 

P
g

. 1
60

Attachment: Heintz Public Input on Zoning Map  (1796 : Zoning Code Update)



6.
C

.7

P
ac

ke
t 

P
g

. 1
61

Attachment: Heintz Public Input on Zoning Map  (1796 : Zoning Code Update)



Capitola Road

Clares Street

Jade Street

Kennedy Drive

¬«1

M O N T E R E Y  B A Y

41s
t A

ven
ue

Wharf Road

Bay Avenue

Monterey Avenue

Park Avenue

Escalona Drive

49
th

Ave
nu

e

Cap
ito

la A
ven

ue

47t
hA

v en
ue

MH

MH

MH

MH

C-R

CF

CF

CF

CFI

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1R-1

C-C

RM-M

MU-N
RM-L

PD

PD

MU-N
P/OS-VSMH

MH

C-C

C-C

R-1

P/OS

D R A F T  Z O N I N G  M A P

C I T Y  O F  C A P I T O L A
Z O N I N G  C O D E  U P D A T E

0 500 1,000 Feet

Capitola Avenue

MontereyAve

*See Local Coastal Program Habitats Map for boundaries of Environmentally Sensitive Habitats Area Overlay Zone.

Residential Zoning Districts
R-1 - Single-Family Residential
RM-L - Multi-Family Residential, Low Density
RM-M - Multi-Family Residential, Medium Density
RM-H - Multi-Family Residential, High Density
MH - Mobile Home Park

Mixed-Use Zoning Districts
MU-V - Mixed Use Village
MU-N - Mixed Use Neighborhood

Commercial and Industrial Zoning Districts
C-R - Regional Commercial
C-C - Community Commercial 

I - Industrial
Other Zoning Districts

P/OS - Parks and Open Space
CF - Community Facility
PD - Planned Development

Overlay Zones*
-AHO - Affordable Housing Overlay
-CZ - Coastal Zone
-VRU - Vacation Rental Use
-VR - Village Residential
-VS - Visitor Serving

City Limit
Santa Cruz Coastal Zone Boundary

49t
hA

ven
ue

C ap
ito

la A
ven

ue

MontereyAvenue

Capitola Avenue

Vacation Rental Use Village Residential

M A R C H  3 0 ,  2 0 1 7

Source: ESRI, 2017; PlaceWorks, 2017.

6.C.8

Packet Pg. 162

A
tt

ac
h

m
en

t:
 Z

o
n

in
g

 M
ap

  (
17

96
 :

 Z
o

n
in

g
 C

o
d

e 
U

p
d

at
e)


	Agenda Packet
	1. Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance
	2. Oral Communications
	A. Additions and Deletions to Agenda
	B. Public Comments
	C. Commission Comments
	D. Staff Comments

	3. Presentation
	A. Capitola Branch Library Design - Public Works Director Steve Jesberg

	4. Approval of Minutes
	A. Minutes of Feb 2, 2017 7:00 PM
	Printout: Minutes of Feb 2, 2017 7:00 PM


	5. Consent Calendar
	A. 224 San Jose Avenue
	Printout: 224 San Jose Avenue
	1. 224 San Jose Plans
	2. 224 San Jose Historic Review

	B. 1842 48th Ave
	Printout: 1842 48th Ave
	1. Project Plans


	6. Public Hearings
	A. 105 Sacramento Avenue
	Printout: 105 Sacramento Avenue
	1. Project Plans
	2. Geological Report
	3. Coastal Commission Letter 3/30/17

	B. Capitola Mall Redevelopment
	Printout: Capitola Mall Redevelopment

	C. Zoning Code Update
	Printout: Zoning Code Update
	1. Planning Commission edits to January 2017 draft
	2. Draft Chapter 17.74 Accessory Dwelling Units.pdf
	3. Parcel Size by Zone
	4. Santa Cruz ADU fee waiver
	5. Sidewalk Sign Ordinance
	6. BIA Sidewalk Sign
	7. Heintz Public Input on Zoning Map
	8. Zoning Map


	7. Director's Report
	8. Commission Communications
	9. Adjournment

	Appendix
	4.A · Minutes of Feb 2, 2017 7:00 PM
	5.A · 224 San Jose Avenue
	5.A.1 · 224 San Jose Plans
	5.A.2 · 224 San Jose Historic Review

	5.B · 1842 48th Ave
	5.B.1 · Project Plans

	6.A · 105 Sacramento Avenue
	6.A.1 · Project Plans
	6.A.2 · Geological Report
	6.A.3 · Coastal Commission Letter 3/30/17

	6.B · Capitola Mall Redevelopment
	6.C · Zoning Code Update
	6.C.1 · Planning Commission edits to January 2017 draft
	6.C.2 · Draft Chapter 17.74 Accessory Dwelling Units.pdf
	6.C.3 · Parcel Size by Zone
	6.C.4 · Santa Cruz ADU fee waiver
	6.C.5 · Sidewalk Sign Ordinance
	6.C.6 · BIA Sidewalk Sign
	6.C.7 · Heintz Public Input on Zoning Map
	6.C.8 · Zoning Map



